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            Prologue

         

         It was the greatest party of Elizabeth’s reign—nineteen days of gut-busting feasts, minstrel performances, bear-baiting, Italian acrobats, and jaw-dropping fireworks. All of it was designed for a single purpose: to woo a queen. When Robert Dudley, the Earl of Leicester, planned the festivities at his estate of Kenilworth Castle in July 1575, he was getting desperate. After fifteen years of vying for Queen Elizabeth’s hand, he was no closer to a promise of marriage than when he’d begun.

         The Kenilworth festival was his last-ditch attempt at winning the queen’s affections, and Leicester spared no expense to impress her, spending lavishly on new gardens, gifts, and performances. As the party raged, nobles and gentry from across the realm—as well as commoners from the countryside—guzzled forty barrels of beer and sixteen barrels of wine a day as they pursued wanton encounters in the surrounding woods and fields. Leicester kept his eyes on the queen, anxiously watching for signs that she was enjoying the elaborate masques and other entertainments he had dreamed up in her honor.

         On several nights, Leicester unleashed firework displays created by an Italian pyrotechnician over a man-made lake that lapped against the western wall of the castle. The spectacles lasted for hours, including dazzling dragons, fighting dogs and cats, and rockets that seemed to shoot out of the water itself. A contemporary observer described them as a “blaze of burning darts, flying to and fro, leams of stars coruscant, streams and hail of fiery sparks” of such intensity “that the heavens thundered, the waters surged, the earth shook.”

         Another night, the earl staged a giant water pageant as Elizabeth was making her way across a long bridge over the lake. An actor dressed as the sea-god Triton rode across the water to her on a mechanical mermaid. Sounding a trumpet in the shape of a whelk, he commanded the seas to still, shouting: “You waters wild, suppress your waves and keep you calm and plain!” After his speech, another actor dressed as the fabled Greek musician Arion serenaded her from atop a twenty-four-foot-long mechanical dolphin. Music emanated eerily from the dolphin’s belly, where an ensemble of musicians had been secreted inside.

         There’s no record of how the queen received the performance—whether she stood stony-faced, or smiled and clapped with joy, or felt a rise of love in her heart for the man who had gone to such extravagant lengths to please her. But the moment has been immortalized, after a fashion, in William Shakespeare’s most beloved play, A Midsummer Night’s Dream. In one scene, Oberon, King of the Fairies, reminisces to his underling Puck while in a jealous fit over the Fairy Queen Titania. “Thou rememb’rest since once I sat upon a promontory, and heard a mermaid on a dolphin’s back uttering such dulcet and harmonious breath that the rude sea grew civil at her song, and certain stars shot madly from their spheres to hear the sea-maid’s music?” he says to Puck. “That very time I saw, but thou couldst not, flying between the cold moon and the earth Cupid, all armed. A certain aim he took at a fair vestal thronèd by the west, and loosed his love shaft smartly from his bow as it should pierce a hundred thousand hearts.”

         For more than a century, those lines have been read as an allusion to Leicester, who shot a love arrow at his own vestal—England’s famous “Virgin Queen” Elizabeth—at a pageant complete with dolphin, mermaid, and fireworks. It’s less clear how Shakespeare, then a boy eleven years old, could have witnessed the spectacle; or why he would have included it in a play written around 1595, some twenty years after the event. In his book Will in the World, Harvard professor Stephen Greenblatt allows that “it is certainly conceivable” that Shakespeare’s father may have taken him from their home in Stratford-upon-Avon, fourteen miles away, to see the display. If so, then perhaps Shakespeare stood with his father upon a promontory overlooking the lake to catch a glimpse of the entertainments, and perhaps the sight made such an impression on him that he remembered it for the next two decades, and perhaps he found a moment to work it into a play performed before the queen to remind her of her youthful wooing by her favorite courtier.

         Those are a lot of “perhapses.” It’s not the only explanation, however, for how the Kenilworth water pageant could have inspired Shakespeare’s comedy. The playwright could have heard a report from someone who attended, or read about it in a letter circulated after the event. Or there is another possibility: perhaps, another person wrote those lines—someone who attended the event as a guest and witnessed the pageant firsthand.

         
              

         

         I FIRST HEARD the name Thomas North in October 2015. I had been invited to Lafayette College in Easton, Pennsylvania, to give a lecture about a book I’d written about a thief of rare maps. The weather was unseasonably warm, and the foliage was in full array, with a spectacular red maple lighting up the picture window of the library lecture hall. Afterward, the lecture’s sponsors, English professor emerita June Schlueter and her husband, Paul, a literature scholar, took me to a dinner reception. Over a pasta buffet they introduced me to a scholar named Dennis McCarthy, a confident fifty-three-year-old who looked a decade younger than his age. McCarthy had attended my lecture with his adult daughter, Nicole Galovski, and only later did I learn that the two positioned themselves around the last remaining seats so that I would sit next to one of them.

         McCarthy immediately pulled me into conversation, asking me about my book and telling me about his own research. “I bet you are the only other person here who knows where the words ‘Hic Sunt Dracones’ come from,” he said. Of course, I replied—they’re on the Hunt-Lenox Globe at the New York Public Library. Translated “Here Be Dragons,” they are the words cartographers supposedly used to designate uncharted territory—but McCarthy had a different theory, speculating the words marked the location of giant lizards known as Komodo dragons. Here Be Dragons was also the name of his book on biogeography, he told me, and before long, we were spiritedly discussing maps and geography.

         As the reception wound down, he invited me to continue talking over drinks with his daughter and her fiancé. It took me a half a second to decide. I was alone on a Thursday night in a small college town, and the thought of going back to my B&B was infinitely less appealing. I figured I could have a few drinks and continue an enjoyable conversation. I had no idea how this chance meeting would start me down a path to trace a literary mystery that I’d follow, along with McCarthy, for the next five years.

         We headed to the College Hill Tavern, a bar with old sports memorabilia framed on the walls (GO LEOPARDS!) and students and locals drinking liquor from plastic cups. We sat at a chipped wooden high-top, straining to hear each other over the impromptu karaoke of nearby patrons. I don’t know whose idea it was to order martinis, but amid conversation of maps and Galovski’s impending wedding in the Azores, I was a bit foggy by the time McCarthy finally leaned across the table and told me he had a story for me.

         “You know how Shakespeare used other sources to write his plays?” McCarthy asked over the din of amateur Bon Jovi. “Sure,” I replied, trying to remember anything about Shakespeare’s sources from my first-year college class. “Well, I found a source no one ever knew about before,” he said. This unknown manuscript, he continued, was a treatise by a sixteenth-century courtier named George North. The work, he claimed, influenced some of Shakespeare’s greatest plays, including Richard III, Macbeth, and King Lear.

         But Shakespeare never even read the manuscript, McCarthy continued, as I struggled to follow his argument through a haze of classic rock and booze. Instead, George’s relative, Sir Thomas North, had used it to write his own plays. Oh, he is one of those, I thought to myself—a conspiracy theorist who thought Shakespeare didn’t write Shakespeare. But McCarthy hurriedly added that in fact he believed the Bard of Avon wrote every word attributed to him during his lifetime. He also believed, however, that Shakespeare had used these earlier plays by Thomas North for his ideas, his language, and even some of his most famous soliloquies. There was something about a murder involving North’s sister, and an affair Queen Elizabeth may or may not have had with North’s patron, the Earl of Leicester, and a tale of familial exile uncannily like Prospero’s story in The Tempest.

         I didn’t believe any of it. Where are North’s plays now? I asked. “Lost,” McCarthy said—but so were most manuscripts written in the Elizabethan era. Why hadn’t anyone discovered this before? “Because no one had the right tools to do so,” he said, arguing excitedly that his computer-assisted techniques had the potential to finally solve the mystery of how—and why—Shakespeare’s plays were written. I vaguely knew about the conspiracy theories that Shakespeare was a fraud, and the plays were really written by the Earl of Oxford or someone else. But this was something different. McCarthy’s theory was more akin to saying Shakespeare plagiarized or collaborated with another writer. The theory seemed outlandish, but I liked McCarthy, and was somewhat amused by the lengths to which he’d gone to pitch me. I promised to look at whatever he sent me.

         
              

         

         IN MORE THAN two decades as an investigative reporter, I’ve learned not to dismiss any story out of hand. Years ago, as a writer at Boston Magazine, I’d been contacted by a sixty-five-year-old man incarcerated for allegedly setting fire to his own store. The arson investigation turned out to be junk science, and he was freed after more than four years in prison. Soon after I wrote my article, the prosecution dropped attempts to retry him. More recently, I wrote an article for The New York Times about a rare copy of the first map to name America, which was expected to sell at Christie’s auction house for $1 million. A map dealer came to me claiming it was fake, printed in the twentieth century on four-hundred-year-old paper. The giveaway was a spot where the map had been printed over the centuries-old glue that had bound the paper into a book. I contacted Christie’s, which pulled the map from auction before my article even hit the newsstand.

         So I wasn’t opposed to considering McCarthy’s theories—though I wasn’t inclined to believe them, either. When I finally dug into the document he sent me six months later, I was surprised to find a persuasive amount of evidence pointing to the use of the manuscript as a source for nearly a dozen of Shakespeare’s plays. I was intrigued enough to order McCarthy’s self-published book about Thomas North, titled North of Shakespeare, and meet with him again—this time at a table by the water in Newburyport, Massachusetts. I listened as he spelled out his theories in a torrent of words, as if he couldn’t get them all out fast enough.

         McCarthy wasn’t a trained academic scholar himself, he admitted; in fact, he hadn’t even graduated from college. Yet, by that point he’d devoted more than a decade to his research on Shakespeare. Most of it was done at home through scouring the Internet and using open-source plagiarism software to compare the text of Shakespeare’s plays with the works of Thomas North—an Elizabethan writer who’d translated Plutarch’s Lives, a book well-known as the source for Shakespeare’s Roman plays. But McCarthy saw something more in him—over an exceptional fifty-year literary career, he claimed, North had written dozens of plays, which Shakespeare had reworked to create the greatest canon of works in English literature. Many of them, he said, were written on behalf of his patron, the Earl of Leicester, as part of his never-ending quest to woo Queen Elizabeth.

         Despite a decade of trying, however, McCarthy had only gotten one Shakespearean scholar to believe him—June Schlueter, my own patron for the Lafayette lecture. Interested enough, I told him that I would consider writing about him on two conditions—one, that he publish his research with a reputable publisher; and, two, that he get at least two more scholars to take his ideas seriously. Over the next three years, he met both those conditions. In 2018, he and Schlueter published the George North manuscript with the British Library as A Brief Discourse of Rebellion and Rebels, showing how Shakespeare borrowed from it, and winning endorsements from two prominent scholars. I wrote about that book for The New York Times in February 2018 under the headline: “Plagiarism Software Unveils a New Source for 11 of Shakespeare’s Plays.”

         Both my article and McCarthy’s book were well-received—though mostly by people sniggering about the fact that Shakespeare was a plagiarist. But this was only a small part of the story. McCarthy had yet to reveal his larger theory—that while Shakespeare used George North as a source for some of his plays, he relied on Thomas North as a source for nearly all of his works, and that he wasn’t using prose works, but plays. As unorthodox as McCarthy’s ideas were, I thought that they at least deserved an airing.

         Then again, orthodox ideas become orthodox for a reason—they’ve been analyzed, challenged, and defended by generations of scholars and stood the test of time. A whole industry has been built around Shakespeare scholarship, with thousands of books, articles, classes, and professors all arguing on behalf of the authorship of the plays by William of Stratford-upon-Avon. What kind of new evidence would it take for a scholar who has built a career around that Shakespeare to consider an alternative point of view? And how would they treat the person who espouses it? As I watched McCarthy struggle to get anyone in the Shakespeare community to listen to him, I started conceiving of another project, a book that would investigate and test his theories, but also examine how knowledge gets created, and what it takes to change established ways of thinking.

         
              

         

         WE MAY WANT to believe in the idea of Shakespeare as a solitary genius—the Bard of Avon, the Soul of the Age. While even mainstream scholars now believe he had at least some help in writing many of his plays, they’ve held fast to the belief that the bulk of the language and inspiration behind them was Shakespeare’s and Shakespeare’s alone. Yet for centuries, mysteries about William Shakespeare have gone unexplained, such as how a glover’s son from Stratford could have had the intimate knowledge of Italy—a country he almost certainly never visited—or how he could have absorbed the experience of going to war, or used complex legal jargon, or read source material in French, Italian, Latin, and Greek.

         Some of the reasons proposed to explain those mysteries are just as unsatisfying, relying on secret conspiracies in which an aristocrat such as the Earl of Oxford or Sir Francis Bacon actually wrote the plays, which Shakespeare then passed off under his own name. Besides the elitism implied by the idea that only a nobleman could have written such sublime works, such theories suffer from the obvious question of how, in the competitive world of Elizabethan theater, such a secret could have been held for so long. McCarthy’s contention, that Shakespeare borrowed his material from Thomas North—a gentleman and scholar who moved in the uppermost levels of Queen Elizabeth’s court—provides an intriguing and wholly original solution, in which the playwright could have legitimately put his own name on his rewritten plays, at the same time borrowing their essence from someone who fit all of the requirements for writing them. In addition to being a translator, North was a lawyer, soldier, diplomat, and courtier—a sixteenth-century Zelig who participated in some of the most crucial events of the age, and brushed shoulders with the brightest minds of the Renaissance. Understanding his inspirations and motivations, McCarthy contends, reveals hidden meanings and unfolds new depths of emotion in the familiar stories of Shakespeare’s dramas. He even, I would come to find, developed an explanation for why Thomas North might have sold his plays to Shakespeare to adapt for the public stage. Over the next two years, I continued my conversation with McCarthy begun in that Pennsylvania bar. We traveled together through England, France, and Italy to retrace Thomas North’s footsteps. Along the way, I began conducting my own research in overseas archives, teaching myself English secretary hand script to read old documents in an effort to prove or disprove McCarthy’s audacious theories. As I considered how and why Thomas North might have written the plays that he did, I began to glimpse a new story that could answer age-old questions about Shakespeare and his works—if it could be believed.

      

   


   
      
         
            Chapter One

            This Blood Condemns

            (1551)

         

         
            The more I sound his name the more he bleeds.

            This blood condemns me, and in gushing forth

            Speaks as it falls and asks me why I did it.

            —Arden of Faversham

         

         
             

         

         Dennis McCarthy steps out of a car on a chilly November morning into the streets of a village in southeastern England. “We’re in Faversham!” he says wonderingly, as if he can’t quite believe it. He’d been reading about this town for the better part of a decade, focusing on a brutal incident that happened here more than 450 years ago—and yet he’d never been here before now. “Are you here about the murder?” a middle-aged woman with glasses asks, noticing us staring at a house across the street.

         “Do you know about the murder?” McCarthy turns the question around, and she replies as if the killing happened last week, rather than in February 1551. “Oh yes, the blood was red and thick, and the snow was white as they dragged the body through the field.” We’re standing now outside of the scene of the crime—a white Tudor cottage with dark half-timber framing, filled in with white daub-and-wattle. Once, the home was attached to the gatehouse of the mighty Faversham Abbey. While that structure was already gone by the time of the murder, Abbey Street is still arguably the best-preserved medieval street in Britain, with England’s oldest brewery at one end, and Arden’s House, named after the town’s most notorious former resident, at the other.

         It was a messy killing. Thomas Arden, Faversham’s one-time mayor, was sitting down to play at tables—a game similar to backgammon—with a tailor by the name of Thomas Mosby. The contest was fraught, since Arden was well aware that Mosby was having an affair with his wife. As they played, Mosby made a move and said, “Now, I may take you.” At that signal, a man named “Black Will” suddenly burst out of a closet behind Arden and attempted to strangle him with a towel. When Arden failed to succumb, Mosby struck him on the side of the head with a fourteen-pound pressing iron, knocking him out.

         Even that wasn’t enough to do Arden in, however. As the murderers dragged him into a small office off the parlor, he began to groan again, and Black Will slashed him across the face with a dagger. Finally, he came out to tell Arden’s wife, Alice, that the deed had been done. She rushed into the room with her own knife, furiously stabbing her husband seven or eight times in the chest as his blood gushed onto the floor.

         The crime was an instant scandal. Not only had a woman risen up against her own husband, but Alice and Mosby had enlisted a crew of other townspeople, including Arden’s own servants, in the killing. The betrayal was so great that twenty-five years later Holinshed’s Chronicles, the definitive history of England, took a break from recounting the exploits of kings, queens, and nobles to detail the household crime for five full pages. Another fifteen years later, in 1592, the murder was immortalized in an anonymous play titled The Lamentable and True Tragedie of M. Arden of Feversham in Kent.

         Commonly known as Arden of Faversham, the play is an early Elizabethan masterpiece, which kicked off a new genre of “domestic tragedy” concerned with workaday calamities rather than royal misfortunes. The author of that play, however, has always remained a mystery, with some scholars arguing fiercely for Thomas Kyd, author of later revenge tragedies, and others championing Christopher Marlowe, who grew up in nearby Canterbury. For the past half-century, however, many have increasingly believed it to be the first published play by the world’s greatest dramatist: William Shakespeare.

         It’s that theory that’s brought us here on this blustery day in 2018. Not only does McCarthy think that Shakespeare wrote the 1592 play, but he also believes it holds the key to a deeper secret about Shakespeare’s works. Among Alice’s relatives who would have been devastated by the crime was her fifteen-year-old half brother, Thomas North. He would later go on to become a translator and was famous in his lifetime for his translation of Plutarch’s Lives, the Greek philosopher Plutarch’s book of biographies and undoubted source for Shakespeare’s Julius Caesar and Antony and Cleopatra. But McCarthy believes Shakespeare’s debt to North is far greater—the translator, he contends, wrote a play about his own family’s tragedy decades earlier, which Shakespeare later used to write his own play.

         
              

         

         I FOLLOW MCCARTHY around the front of Arden’s House, where a single red rose hangs off a trellis. He is sporting a white button-up shirt with the collar open and an olive-colored wool coat. At fifty-six years old, he has a square jaw and full head of dark hair, only slightly thinning in the corners. On his face is an almost permanent smirk, as if he is about to disprove, or at least question, anything at any moment.

         Behind McCarthy follows his daughter, Nicole Galovski, a lanky thirty-two-year-old with blond corkscrew curls. A documentary filmmaker whose work has aired on Showtime, HBO, and Netflix, she is dressed the part in a black windbreaker and skinny jeans. With her is Bahareh Hosseini, a diminutive Iranian filmmaker carrying a heavy camera on her shoulder. For the past several years, Galovski and a rotating roster of camerapersons have been following her father around on his quixotic quest to prove Thomas North is the key to understanding Shakespeare’s canon.

         Even though the current tenants know we are coming, they don’t know we’re bringing a film crew. McCarthy seems anxious. “I’ll just ask if they mind us filming them,” he says. “No, Dad,” Galovski breaks in, exasperated. “Don’t ask them—let me handle it.” Around the back of the house is a slick patio leading to an ancient-looking door with an iron knocker. McCarthy knocks, and the door opens to a cheerful woman in a fuchsia athletic top, who introduces herself as Irene Redman. “I’m just off to Pilates at the moment,” she says, passing us off to her husband, Chris, a financial analyst whose white shirt bulges beneath a red tie and suspenders. “Do you mind if I film?” Galovski asks casually, as the camera rolls.

         “No, no, that’s all right,” Redman says gamely as he invites us in. “Well, what I can do is show you around, and just sort of talk through the—” he pauses “—Arden story,” saying the words as if not quite sure how to refer to the event. The house is divided into two parts, he explains, showing us a low-ceilinged kitchen with worm-eaten beams and exposed stone walls that were originally part of the abbey’s gatehouse. The other part, he says, was built by Thomas Arden himself. There, the ceilings are higher and the walls covered in white plaster, some of which is original to the building. “After the Arden thing, this house fell into disrepair gradually,” Redman says, leading into a foyer with a dining table and PlayStation controllers and soccer balls strewn around the floor. “In the 1950s, this whole street was going to be knocked down because it was a complete slum—and this was a brothel.” Instead, local residents put together a plan to save the street, restoring the homes to their former Tudor glory.

         To the left is an office with an Oriental rug and computer desk. “Is this where the murder took place?” McCarthy asks finally. “Well, I thought you were going to get round to that,” Redman says with a laugh. Historians aren’t exactly sure which room was the parlor where Arden and Mosby sat playing that night, he explains. But “people generally accept that it was probably this room,” says Redman, motioning toward the office. We all gaze silently into it for a moment, imagining the violent events of nearly five centuries ago.

         
              

         

         THE ERSTWHILE MAYOR lay on the floor, according to Holinshed’s account, as Alice paid Black Will £10 ($6,300 in today’s money) and he fled the scene. The remaining conspirators wiped up the blood, then threw the cloth and Alice’s knife into a tub by the well. In those times, homeowners spread straw on the floor of their homes, and now the murderers carefully arranged the straw disturbed by the struggle back into place. Alice then bid her servants call two guests from London, along with Mosby’s sister, and the five of them ate and drank while Alice played the innocent, wondering where her husband had gone. After their meal, Alice’s twelve-year-old daughter played the virginals (a harpsichord-like instrument) while Alice danced with her guests and outside it started to snow. When they had gone, Alice sprang into action, enlisting Mosby and his sister—and even her own daughter—to drag Arden’s stiffening body through the garden gate and into the meadow where the abbey once stood.

         “His body would have been dragged this way,” Redman says, leading us out into his backyard. We cross the lawn to a timeworn gate in a low stone wall, as a church bell tolls in the distance. “The body is found somewhere around here,” Redman says, leading us around the wall to a small paved courtyard. Seeing it firsthand drives home just how intimate the whole affair was, with the body lying just a few hundred feet from the back of the house.

         Snow was still falling as the murderers left the body, but it soon stopped, and a search party led by the town’s current mayor came across Arden’s body in the field. In one of history’s earliest uses of forensic science, the mayor noticed straw from the house sticking in Arden’s slippers, along with the partially covered tracks leading back through the gate. In the search of the house, they found the bloody cloth and knife in the tub. Faced with this evidence, Holinshed says, Alice confessed, crying out, “Oh, the blood of God help, for this blood have I shed.”

         The search party then went to the local inn where Mosby was staying and found blood on his clothes, leading him to confess as well. The ring of conspirators kept widening, eventually including Mosby’s sister; two servants, Michael and Elizabeth; and three townspeople, including one who had helped hire Black Will to commit the murder. There was a good reason so many people were involved in the plot against Arden, says Redman. “He was absolutely hated.”

         
              

         

         THE ROOTS OF that hatred lay in the abbey that was no longer there. At 360 feet long, the cruciform structure once dominated the town, with an attached cloister that housed a thriving community of monks. All of it came literally crashing down when the abbey was demolished in 1538 under orders of King Henry VIII. Faversham Abbey’s demise wasn’t an isolated incident, but part of a grand scheme known as the Dissolution of the Monasteries, a cataclysmic reordering of English society that affected thousands of lives. Local residents blamed the abbey land’s owner, Arden, for the destruction, but he was only a cog in a great wheel of bureaucracy that rode over England. One of those who set that wheel in motion was Thomas North’s father.

         Edward North was a prosperous lawyer when he married Alice Arden’s mother (also named Alice) around 1528. They had four more children, two boys and two girls—including Thomas, who was born in 1535. “So Alice is Thomas’s half sister,” says McCarthy, standing in front of Arden’s House after our tour. “She’s fourteen years older than him.” The family lived in Kirtling Hall, Edward’s expansive estate in Cambridgeshire, sixty miles north of London, where Thomas grew up sheltered in a house filled with books, games, and servants. “He’s born into Tudor luxury,” says McCarthy. “He has archery, falconry. It’s likely the family had a fool.”

         Eventually, Edward rose to become a clerk of Parliament, where he helped draft the legislation allowing the crown to seize the monasteries. He hired Arden as his secretary and he soon became Edward’s right-hand man, writing his letters and helping draft laws. North rewarded him with an arranged marriage to his stepdaughter in 1537, when Alice was just sixteen years old. Arden followed North to a new post as treasurer of the Court of Augmentations—a ministry charged with selling the newly seized church lands. With an inside track on sales, Arden started buying and selling monastery lands, collecting fees on either end. Eventually, he began buying up properties in the town of Faversham, a port town with wharves teeming with sailors unloading sacks full of onions, barrels of salt, and casks of eels from Holland and France. Arden became customs collector, overseeing proceeds from that trade and skimming a little off the top.

         Soon Edward North rose to become chancellor of augmentations, overseeing all the former monastery properties. That same year, Arden was allowed to buy the charter for the abbey lands for £117 ($116,000 today), including cottages and tenements he rented out to his fellow townsmen. “Thomas’s father Edward was the one who was in charge of distributing all of these lands to various Englishmen,” says McCarthy, “and Thomas Arden, his son-in-law, was the one who got all this abbey land.” The townspeople watched as Arden tore down the abbey’s outer gate and converted the guesthouse into his private residence, a U-shaped house curving around a great hall. On the window in the parlor, Arden apparently placed the North coat of arms—a crouching lion surrounded by three fleurs-de-lis, symbolizing strength and purity—as an homage to the man who had started him on his path to wealth.

         
              

         

         THE ARDEN HOUSEHOLD had a secret, however, that threatened to destroy everything Thomas Arden had built. His wife, Alice, had begun an affair with Thomas Mosby, a tailor in Edward North’s household. The liaison possibly began as far back as 1537—the year Arden married Alice. At some point, according to the Faversham Wardmote book—a journal of town records that includes a short account of the murder—Arden became aware of the situation and “willfully did permit and suffer the same.” Another account, written by historian John Stow, upon which Holinshed’s account is based, says there was a good reason for this: Edward North was fond of Mosby, and Arden was afraid of damaging his relationship with his patron by accusing North’s favored servant of the affair.

         As Mosby rose to become North’s steward, he often visited Faversham, where, the Wardmote Book says, he also had a house, and treated Alice to “delicate meats and sumptuous apparel” in full view of the town. The histories don’t say why Alice cuckolded her husband so flagrantly. But given the portrait of greed and ambition that emerges from them, it’s not hard to see why Alice might have soured on him. In a six-year period, two-thirds of the lodgings Arden owned turned over to new tenants, implying he was raising rents. As a member of the town council, Stow says, Arden moved the town’s annual St. Valentine’s Day fair onto the old abbey grounds, earning him the rent at the expense of the town, “for the which deed he had many a curse.” In another case, Holinshed says he “wrested” a piece of land from a man named Greene, and the two had come to blows over the situation—possibly a case of evicting him from a tenancy-at-will on former abbey lands.

         Arden continued to enrich himself after becoming mayor in 1548, bankrupting the town with exorbitant salaries for himself and other officials, even as he apparently failed to pay his own taxes. In December 1549, angry town councilors stripped Arden of his privileges as a freeman, humiliating the man who’d so recently been mayor. Arden was suddenly surrounded by enemies and far removed from his patron, Edward North. All of that made Alice confident that if Arden should disappear, he was so “evil beloved,” in Stow’s colorful turn of phrase, “that no man would make inquiry after his death.”

         
              

         

         AS THE PLAY Arden of Faversham opens, Arden has just received deeds to the abbey lands, but is too distraught to celebrate, telling a confidant, Franklin, he has discovered love letters passing between Mosby and his wife. The play diverges from the historical record, however, in one crucial aspect: Mosby is not the steward for Edward North, but is employed by a fictional nobleman named Lord Clifford—an important clue in McCarthy’s analysis.

         After Arden confronts Alice, she implores Mosby to murder her husband, and he reluctantly agrees. In the play, Mosby is particularly villainous, painted as an uncouth social climber. Arden, meanwhile, comes across as a penny-pinching miser. When a sailor named Reede implores him to return the lease on a plot of land, Arden all but laughs in his face. Reede curses him, saying, “That plot of ground which thou detains from me, I speak it in agony of spirit—be ruinous and fatal unto thee!” The jilted landowner Greene also joins Alice and Mosby in their plot, helping enlist two scoundrels, Black Will and Shakebag, to carry out the deed.

         What follows can only be described as black comedy, as the murderers try repeatedly to kill Arden without success. After failing to kill him at St. Paul’s Cathedral in London, they convince Michael to let them into Arden’s London house at night, but he gets cold feet and keeps the doors locked. They try to kill him on the road back to Faversham, but another lord arrives to invite Arden and Franklin to dinner on his estate. They try to ambush him on the way back, but get lost in the fog and fall into a ditch. “When was I so long killing a man?” Black Will sputters to Shakebag and Greene.

         The play is no mere farce, however. As Alice and Mosby become more frustrated with their inability to kill Arden, they begin quarreling with each other. Mosby considers killing Alice and taking the land for himself. Alice, too, is having doubts, wondering whether to kill her husband at all, saying, “It is not love that loves to murder love.” In an explosive scene, Mosby accuses Alice of bewitching him, while Alice alleges he only loves her for her husband’s money. Finally, they fall, exhausted, back into each other’s arms, resolving with a kiss to see their bloody deed through. The scene succeeds in humanizing both Mosby and Alice, even as their tragic fate is sealed.

         When Black Will finally bursts out to strangle Arden in his parlor, the moment is played for maximum effect, with Arden looking from Mosby to Michael to Alice, imploring them for help, before realizing that they are all in on the conspiracy. Mosby slams the iron into Arden’s head, before Alice deals the killing blow with her knife. Just as in the histories, the tracks in the snow betray the murderers. The play adds a macabre touch, however; as Alice is brought to see her husband’s body lying in the field, his blood gushes forth as if in accusation, causing her to tearfully confess. The drama ends with an epilogue spoken by Franklin, who notes that Arden’s body was found on the very plot of land the sailor Reede said would be his ruin. For two more years, the bloody print of Arden’s body could be seen on the ground, where no grass would grow.

         
              

         

         ARDEN IS A landmark of theater, the first surviving example of a tragedy involving ordinary people—rather than noble or mythological figures, as had been the case since Greek times. After it was first published in 1592, the play spawned many similar “domestic tragedies,” but it was still rare in so intimately dramatizing real-life historical events. That not only includes the Arden murder, but also the social upheaval brought on by the Dissolution of the Monasteries, through which land—and the power that came with it—was suddenly up for grabs by anyone with the money and connections to seize it.

         Given that Arden of Faversham was groundbreaking in creating a new dramatic form, scholars have long sought to determine the identity of its author. On April 3, 1592, printer Edward White recorded an entry for “The tragedie of Arden of Feversham & blackwill” into the Stationers’ Register, the official record of London’s publishing guild. Surviving today in just three copies, the play appeared in a quarto edition—a small format, half the size of a more formal folio edition—with no playwright’s name on the cover page. That’s not especially unusual for the time, when more plays were published anonymously than not. In fact, many quarto editions of Shakespeare’s plays omitted his name. It was only seven years after his death, with the publication of the First Folio, that many of them were attributed to Shakespeare for the first time—making it entirely possible that another anonymous Elizabethan play could also have been his work.

         The first person to make that claim was Edward Jacobs, an eighteenth-century Faversham historian who noted how many lines in Arden were similar to those in Shakespeare. A line by Mosby, “these eyes, that showed my heart a raven for a dove,” for instance, sounds a lot like a line in A Midsummer Night’s Dream, “Who will not change a raven for a dove?” Modern commentators have called out similarities in character and plot as well, comparing Mosby and Alice, for example, to Macbeth and Lady Macbeth. Shakespeare isn’t the only authorship candidate, however. The geographic specificity in the play—down to the names of specific pubs and inns in Faversham—seems to point to someone intimately familiar with Kent, such as native son Christopher Marlowe. Victorian poet Algernon Charles Swinburne confidently attributed the play to either Shakespeare or Marlowe “unless there was some dramatist,” he wrote, “who could rise to a height equal to theirs.”

         The turn of the twentieth century saw a new claimant arise—Thomas Kyd, a scrivener’s son who was one of the most celebrated playwrights of his time before falling into obscurity after his death. In 1919, Henry Dugdale Sykes pointed out stylistic similarities between Arden and Kyd’s masterwork, The Spanish Tragedy, also published anonymously by Edward White in 1592. Some critics split the difference, supposing the play to be coauthored by some combination of Shakespeare, Marlowe, and Kyd. That also wouldn’t be unusual for the time, when many plays were written by multiple hands. In fact, far from the image we have today of Shakespeare as a singular genius, some scholars argue that a number of his plays are at least partly collaborations with other authors.

         By far the biggest champion of Shakespeare’s authorship of Arden has been MacDonald “Mac” Jackson, a professor at the University of Auckland in New Zealand, who has argued on the Bard’s behalf since his 1963 university dissertation. In 2006, Jackson honed in on the intense “quarrel scene” between Alice and Mosby, subjecting it to computer analysis to determine the similarity of turns of phrase with more than a hundred plays written by Shakespeare and his contemporaries to see how many of them shared two-, three-, or four-word phrases with Arden’s quarrel scene.

         Of the twenty-eight plays with at least four phrases in common, the top eight were Shakespeare’s, with another ten Shakespeare plays coming in hot behind them. Only two plays a piece by Kyd and Marlowe made the list, each with only a paltry four phrases each. The connections to Shakespeare, Jackson noted excitedly, were “not only numerous but of superior quality, including vivid and complex figurative modes of speech.”

         Kyd’s defenders disputed that analysis—led by Sir Brian Vickers, a venerable British Shakespeare scholar who has authored dozens of books on the Bard. In an essay in the Times Literary Supplement in 2008, Vickers introduced a new digital scholarship technique, using Pl@giarism, an open-source software more commonly used to identify plagiarism in student term papers. Vickers employed it to compare the entire text of Arden of Faversham with Kyd’s The Spanish Tragedy and Soliman and Perseda, finding sixty-eight common phrases of at least three words, and concluding “Arden of Faversham can now be attributed to Kyd with a high degree of probability.”

         Jackson countered by showing that Vickers’s own techniques actually led to more three-word phrases in common with Shakespeare’s Henry VI, Part 2 and The Taming of the Shrew than with any of Kyd’s plays. In a 2014 book, Jackson expanded upon his earlier analysis, concluding that Shakespeare wrote at least six of the play’s seventeen scenes. The battle raged for a decade, with partisans for Kyd and Shakespeare continuing to fire broadsides (while Marlowe fell by the board). Australians Jack Elliott and Brett Greatley-Hirsch recently provided the most comprehensive analysis in the 2017 New Oxford Shakespeare Authorship Companion, slicing the play into thirty-five overlapping segments and applying new computer tests that, if anything, reveal an even closer association with Shakespeare, to whom they attribute nearly all of the segments. If the play was a collaboration, they conclude, Shakespeare was “responsible for the lion’s share.” Based on the analysis, the New Oxford Shakespeare named Shakespeare as an author of the play for the first time—officially attributing it to “Anonymous and William Shakespeare.”

         
              

         

         MCCARTHY WADED INTO this debate in 2013 with his own support of the Shakespearean side. In a paper published in the journal Notes & Queries, he used Vickers’s techniques, employing a plagiarism detection software called WCopyfind, to compare Arden with all thirty-eight plays in Shakespeare’s canon. His analysis resulted in dozens of multiword phrases in common. In addition to “a raven for a dove” in A Midsummer Night’s Dream, other examples include “Thou know’st that we too” from Julius Caesar, and “I know he loves me well; but…” from Richard III. By themselves, many of the phrases don’t seem particularly rare; but McCarthy performed an additional check, searching for them in Early English Books Online (EEBO), a massive database with the complete texts of some 125,000 published works between 1473 and 1700. For many of the phrases, he found only a handful of other uses in Shakespeare’s time, whereas some were completely unique to Arden and Shakespeare. His analysis lent additional support for William Shakespeare as at least one of the authors of the 1592 play. That conclusion, however, was only a step toward his more radical theory that Shakespeare based the tragedy on an earlier play written by someone with firsthand knowledge of the crime: Thomas North.

         “So I have WCopyfind right here on my desktop,” McCarthy says to me on a Sunday afternoon a week before our trip to Faversham, sitting at the dining room table of his home, a neocolonial that backs up to a salt marsh on the New Hampshire coast. Three computer monitors stand amid a morass of open books, photocopies, and bric-a-brac as I nervously place my coffee cup on a sloping pile of books to one side. McCarthy fiddles with some settings in a busy dialogue box on the middle monitor. “I ignore punctuation, ignore numbers…” he says to himself as he checks and unchecks boxes. Finally, he settles on searching for strings of up to seven words, only allowing two imperfections—meaning at least five out of seven words in a row have to match. Then he pushes a button onscreen, and two columns of parallel texts open up on the right-hand monitor. On one side is Arden of Faversham; on the other, Thomas North’s first work, The Dial of Princes, a sort of instruction manual for monarchs originally by Spanish Bishop Antonio de Guevara. North had translated and published it in 1557, just six years after Thomas Arden’s murder.

         Words common to both light up in red type. “These are all of the matches,” McCarthy says, pointing to the sea of red words filling up the screen. “These are the lines in North, and these are the lines in Arden of Faversham.” Most of them are familiar expressions or motivated by common circumstances, such as “he went to the house”—but not all. “Some of them really stand out,” McCarthy says. One glaring example is Arden’s subtitle, which reads, in part: “Wherein is showed the great malice and dissimulation of a wicked woman.” He shows me that North’s Dial has a chapter with the subtitle “Wherein is expressed the great malice and little patience of an evil woman”—a similar idea conveyed with a difference of only four words in thirteen. “It’s impossible that that’s a coincidence,” McCarthy says, noting that no other work in EEBO has anything close. “And both are speaking about an evil woman,” McCarthy emphasizes.

         In all, McCarthy found more than two hundred phrases of four words or more shared by Arden and North, along with more than a thousand three-word phrases, swamping the number for Shakespeare or Kyd. Some of them are particularly compelling. One passage in The Dial about courtiers who “flatter” their way into the homes of “noblemen,” for example, contains the phrases “jetting in his velvets and silks” and “the steward of the house.” In a similar passage in the play, Arden complains that Mosby “crept into the service of a nobleman, and by his servile flattery” has “become the steward of the house” where he “bravely jets it in his silken gown.”

         One of McCarthy’s most striking examples doesn’t even have many words in common; but the similarity in sentiment is too uncanny to ignore. During the famous quarrel scene—the one that Mac Jackson praised as so Shakespearean—Alice laments that women can never seem to win. “If I be merry, you straightaways think me light,” she says to Mosby. “If sad, you sayest the sullens trouble me; if well attired, thou thinks I will be gadding; if homely, I seem sluttish in thine eye.” In The Dial, North makes the same point about a woman in almost the exact way: “If she laugh a little, they count her light; if she laugh not, they count her a hypocrite; if she go to the Church, they note her for a gadder.” This kind of correspondence “isn’t picked up on any plagiarism software,” McCarthy says. “This is a full-on effort to rephrase.”

         Of course, one might logically conclude that Shakespeare (or whoever wrote Arden of Faversham) read North’s Dial of Princes and reworked the phrases for the play. But McCarthy suggests it was actually North who was subtly plagiarizing himself while writing a fully formed play about his own family’s tragedy—now lost—around the same time he translated The Dial in 1557. That theory, however, raises a new problem: scholars are united in believing the main source for Arden of Faversham to be the story in Holinshed’s Chronicles, first published in 1577. So how could a play written in the 1550s have used a source from the 1570s? McCarthy answers that the chronology is backward: It wasn’t Holinshed that inspired Arden of Faversham, but North’s original Arden play that inspired Holinshed.

         
              

         

         THE CHRONICLES IS actually a composite work, written by Raphael Holinshed, yes, but also by a number of historians he hired to help him. One of those assistants, John Stow, wrote a first draft of the Arden story, found among his papers after his death in 1605, thirteen years after Arden of Faversham was published. That manuscript, McCarthy says, contains many details lacking in the final published version of Holinshed, which nevertheless appear in the play—such as the fact that it stopped snowing early, and specific words in Reede’s curse. That makes Shakespeare’s reliance on Holinshed problematic. “You would have to argue that William Shakespeare has access not only to Holinshed, but also to Stow’s manuscript,” says McCarthy.

         Given that the manuscript likely never circulated, however, he contends that both Shakespeare and Stow were relying on another source—North’s play. “My claim, and I’m the one who’s right,” says McCarthy with a smirk, standing in front of Arden’s house, “is that Thomas North wrote the original play, and that’s how Stow is getting all this inside information.” That would explain why both Stow and Holinshed contain snatches of dialogue, such as when Arden greets his wife with, “How now, Mistress Alice?” in the histories in the same place as he does in the play. “There’s no reason to include that in a history,” McCarthy contends, getting animated. “I mean, there’s no point.”

         In fact, the publisher for Arden of Faversham, Edward White, registered publication of a now-lost play, A Cruel Murder Done in Kent, in 1577—just as Stow was writing his draft—that McCarthy believes may be North’s. In her definitive book on the historical Thomas Arden, historian Patricia Hyde further speculates Stow may have gotten the Arden story in part from Kentish historian William Lambarde, who happens to have been a schoolmate of Thomas North around 1557, the same time he was translating The Dial of Princes.

         Then there’s North’s obvious personal connection with the historical characters of the play. Alice Arden would have been present at the North family estate in his earliest years; and after that, young Thomas would have seen her often at family gatherings during Christmas and other holidays. That intimate relationship could explain the richness of the portraits drawn of the play’s characters, including Arden, Mosby, and especially Alice. One critic writes, Alice “emerges as the strongest and most active character,” as well as the play’s “most brilliant and troubling poet-rhetorician.” He adds: “The best lines all are hers.” North’s devotion to his half sister, says McCarthy, could explain why Alice is treated so sympathetically despite the brutal act she commits. In addition, North would have also known Alice’s daughter Margaret, who was twelve at the time of the murder, only three years younger than he was—and perhaps for her sake, he may have been unwilling to completely condemn her mother.

         North’s authorship could also clarify why the name of Mosby’s employer in the play is not Edward North, but a fictional Lord Clifford. Multiple commentators have pointed out this substitution, surmising that whoever wrote the play may not have wanted to offend the North family. Strangely, however, the play doesn’t use pseudonyms for other noblemen mentioned in the play, including some whose descendants were even more prominent. The substitution would make sense, however, if North was trying to somehow obscure his father’s identity, conflicted over the role Edward played in the Dissolution—and in his sister’s punishment.

         Arden, as many scholars have noted, struggles to come to terms with the new social mobility of post-dissolution England, on the one hand, making Arden a tragic victim of betrayal, and on the other dwelling on his greed and ruthlessness in wringing out profit at others’ expense. In the end, it is the land that rises up against Arden as much as his wife and servants—both in the jilted landowner Greene, who helps hire the murderers who kill him, and metaphorically through Reede’s curse on the “plot of land” where his body is ultimately found.

         It is almost as if, says critic Richard Helgerson, Alice didn’t kill her husband, but “God himself, moved by ‘the tears of the oppressed’ has wrought ‘vengeance’ on Arden for the social and economic sin of preferring ‘his private profit before common gain.’” Analyses like that one would become key for McCarthy in understanding the play’s connection to Thomas North, who he says also seemed to blame the Dissolution—and his father—for his sister’s crime.

         
              

         

         THE TRIAL WAS brief. Alice and Mosby had already confessed to their crimes, and a commission of gentlemen from around Faversham quickly found all of the conspirators guilty. The case then went to the Privy Council, the king’s innermost circle of advisers, to hand down punishment. By this time, that elite circle included Edward North, who decided the sentences along with the other lords.

         Mosby and his sister were paraded in a cart through London before being hanged at Smithfield, the execution ground outside the city walls. The servants, Michael and Elizabeth, were executed in Faversham in front of their neighbors. Elizabeth burned at the stake, and Michael hanged, drawn, and quartered—a nasty form of execution in which a victim was hanged almost to death, his entrails ripped out and burned in front of him, before he was beheaded and his body chopped into pieces. Greene was hanged in chains, his dead body left to rot over Faversham’s main square. Black Will fled to Flanders before authorities caught up with him there, also burning him to death.

         Alice Arden was singled out for special attention for the egregiousness of her crime. The fact that Alice had betrayed her husband by committing adultery—especially with someone of a lower class—before murdering him was inconceivably wicked. Even her own stepfather, Edward North, showed her no mercy signing the orders condemning her to death. A particularly stomach-churning story claims that the night before she was to be executed, Alice’s cell was left open for any man who wished to come and rape her. Whether or not that’s true, her execution was carried out on March 14, 1551, the same day her lover, Mosby, was executed. While he was hanged in London, she was pulled in a cart to Canterbury, seat of the English church, and tied to a stake, where faggots of wood were heaped at her feet and set alight. A crowd of hundreds yelled and jeered as the flames licked up her legs to consume her.

         It’s hard to imagine what Edward North’s son Thomas must have thought about her death. The fifteen-year-old may have had festive memories of Alice and her daughter from holiday visits. It’s possible he had witnessed firsthand her coldness toward her husband, or her affections for his father’s steward. It’s possible, too, that he may have blamed his father in part for her death—both directly for signing the execution, and indirectly for his role in the Dissolution of the Monasteries. That anger could have fueled composition of a play that pins the guilt of the murder as much to Arden’s greed as to Alice’s lust, and seems to sympathize with a murderer. “Knowing North wrote the play helps us understand it in a way that we’ve never been able to before,” McCarthy says.

         One of the strongest pieces of evidence he points to for Thomas North’s authorship comes from within the family itself. In 1658, Edward North’s great-grandson, Dudley North, wrote a biography of his ancestor, drawing upon “perusal of the old and almost worn-out papers remaining at Kirtling.” In it, he defends Edward’s part in the Dissolution of the Monasteries, saying his “managing of that great trust were sincere.” Nevertheless, he adds with obvious distaste, his role in the Dissolution “exposed him to the censure of some of his own posterity.” He goes on to write cryptically that one of Edward’s descendants blamed him for a “crime that had been the destruction of many families so raised, and would be the catastrophe of his.” He thinks it presumptuous, however, to “apply the judgments of the Almighty with too much strictness to such and such a particular cause.”

         McCarthy takes all of this to be an allusion to Thomas North and his critical play, with the “crime” a reference to the Dissolution, and the “catastrophe,” the Arden murder—even echoing the way the play seems to attribute Arden’s murder to God’s judgment. “That’s exactly what Dudley North says, that one of his children wrote about this scandal in the house, and he ascribed it to divine retribution. So it was something the family knew about, and was irritated at Thomas North about 100 years later.” A few pages later, Dudley calls out Thomas North directly for criticism, saying he “never had a steadiness” comparable to that of his brother Roger.

         From all those clues, McCarthy concludes that while Thomas North may have removed his father’s name from the play, his family was still upset a century later that it accused Edward of complicity in the death of his son-in-law and execution of his stepdaughter. In fact, North’s authorship of A Cruel Murder Done in Kent, and the rift it created with his father, is key to McCarthy’s larger theory about Thomas North. He believes that he didn’t just write a play upon which Arden of Faversham was based, but that he also wrote other plays upon which Shakespeare based his work—in fact, nearly all of the plays in the canon.

         The fallout from that familial conflict would ultimately explain why Thomas North wrote so many plays, and why he would eventually sell them to William Shakespeare to adapt. That understanding, however, would take McCarthy years to develop. His explorations into North’s literary career didn’t start with Arden, but more than a decade earlier, with a far more famous play.

      

   


   
      
         
            Chapter Two

            But Thinking Makes It So

            (2005–2009)

         

         
            …there is

            nothing either good or bad, but thinking

            makes it so.

            —Hamlet

         

         
             

         

         Dennis McCarthy’s eyes were swimming in his computer screen. What had he gotten himself into? Nothing he read was making any sense. “English Seneca read by candlelight.” “A tiger’s heart wrapped in a player’s hide.” Every line seemed to hold a half a dozen references he didn’t understand, like the code of a secret club to which he didn’t belong. Which, he supposed, is exactly what it was. His idea had been a simple one, if a bit naive. In the late fall of 2005, he had been working on some papers about the geography of evolution—looking at how changes to animals and plants move across the world. One day, he wondered if he could apply similar principles to ideas, tracing how a story moved from country to country, changing subtly along the way. Looking for a piece of literature to serve as an example, he figured why not use the greatest masterpiece in the English language: William Shakespeare’s Hamlet.

         So what if he didn’t have any background in literature? He didn’t have any training in evolutionary biology, either. In fact, he barely graduated from high school and dropped out of college without a degree, working as a freelance writer for most of his life. But if there was one thing he was good at, it was teaching himself a subject that interested him. After all, he’d wormed his way into the field of biology and written papers embraced by its practitioners. He was confident that with enough diligence he could crack the code of Shakespeare studies as well. Now, staring at his screen, he wasn’t so sure. He’d put aside two weeks for this side project, and barely scratched the surface. Papers and books lay strewn around his dining room table, along with piles of loose change, used mugs, and pill bottles. “Empty desk, empty mind,” he thought.

         At forty-two years old, McCarthy liked challenging himself. Hamlet is a complicated masterpiece—a play in which the main character’s defining action for the majority of the drama is deciding whether to act at all. To be, or not to be? He drives his girlfriend to suicide while deciding whether to avenge his father’s death at the hands of his uncle, who has since married his mother. Along the way, he encounters a ghost and a dead jester, an overbearing would-be father-in-law, and two ridiculous schoolmates. Then there are the actors that Hamlet hires to perform a play-within-a-play to expose his uncle’s guilt. When the play finally turns bloody in the last act, it does so with a vengeance, with almost everyone lying dead onstage by the curtain call. For sheer poetry, depth of feeling, and meditation on very existence, however, nothing in literature can rival it. For actors, Hamlet is the ultimate role, forcing them to dig deep into their craft as they alternately portray a coward, a genius, and a madman—or sometimes all three at once.

         Where does such a story come from? The action, at least, takes place in Elsinore Castle in Denmark, and is based on an old Norse legend, but it seems to have made its way to England through a French version. Shakespeare’s play first appears in 1603, in an edition known as the First Quarto, but that was clearly not the first English version of the tale. Scholars have identified another Hamlet before Shakespeare’s, referenced as early as 1589. This so-called Ur-Hamlet no longer exists in any extant copies, but Shakespearean scholars believe that it was once performed in England and inspired William Shakespeare to write his masterpiece.

         The question is: Who wrote it? That’s what McCarthy was now trying to answer from his dining room table in New Hampshire. It didn’t daunt him that more conventionally trained scholars had been asking that question for centuries. If there was one thing he’d learned from his forays into the history of science, it’s that generations of people tend to look in the same place for answers. It takes a Darwin in the Galápagos to really change what we think we know—and make a new truth seem as though it had been obvious all along.

         
              

         

         MCCARTHY STARTED SIMPLY, searching the web for “Ur-Hamlet” and seeing what came up. As the leaves fell outside his dining room window, he read about the different versions of Hamlet, and how the First Quarto of 1603 botches Hamlet’s most famous speech. Instead of “To be, or not to be? That is the question,” it reads: “To be, or not to be, ay, there’s the point!” The speech takes on its familiar form by the Second Quarto, published in 1604 or 1605, and most famously in the First Folio version, published after Shakespeare’s death in 1623. But all of those versions were attributed to Shakespeare.

         McCarthy started digging deeper, looking for evidence of the Ur-Hamlet, written by another author before Shakespeare’s play. He found the reference easily enough in the 1589 romance Menaphon by Robert Greene, written fourteen years before Shakespeare’s First Quarto. Robert Greene was a sort of ringleader to a rowdy bunch of Elizabethan playwrights known as the University Wits who lurked about the Shoreditch public houses. The circle of writers was witty and vicious, and wittily vicious, as they competed for attention on the English stage. In the late 1580s, their antagonism broke out into brawl, fought with pens instead of swords. Instead of calling out one another directly, they used veiled allusions that would have been obvious to anyone within their circle, but opaque to outsiders—and are nearly incomprehensible today.

         One of the literary combatants, Thomas Nashe, wrote a preface to Greene’s work, in which he took jabs at his rivals, writing: “It is common practice now-a-days amongst a sort of shifting companions, that run through every art and thrive by none, to leave the trade of noverint whereto they were born”—McCarthy looked up noverint to find that it was a common Latin term beginning legal documents in Elizabethan times—“and busy themselves with the endeavors of art, that could scarcely Latinize their neck-verse if they should have need.” Neck-verse, he found, referred to a sixteenth-century practice by which a condemned man could prevent his execution if he could recite certain psalms in Latin to prove he was a member of the clergy—thus transferring his case to ecclesiastical courts and literally saving his own neck.

         Okay, McCarthy thought, so Nashe was criticizing lawyers turned writers who could barely write to save their lives. Then came the money passage: “yet English Seneca read by candlelight yields many good sentences, as Blood is a beggar, and so forth, and if you entreat him fair in a frosty morning, he will afford you whole Hamlets”—there it was!—“I should say, handfuls, of tragical speeches. But O grief! Tempus edax rerum, what’s that will last always? The sea exhaled by drops will in continuance be dry, and Seneca, let blood line by line and page by page, at length must needs die to our stage.”

         What on earth did any of that mean? McCarthy began searching for the phrases one by one. Seneca, he found, was a Roman playwright known for writing bloodthirsty tragedies of revenge, particularly famous for the high body count they racked up. Senecan tragedy, he found, had had a revival in England starting in the 1560s, just as Elizabeth I was taking the throne, so “English Seneca” must have been a master of that genre. In fact, Shakespeare’s Hamlet has been seen as a late Senecan tragedy—or at least one inspired by the form. McCarthy couldn’t find anything online to decipher “Blood is a beggar,” but tempus edax rerum was easy enough: it meant “time, devourer of all things” in Latin. So Nashe was taking a swipe at Hamlet, saying it was referencing an antiquated form, Senecan tragedy, that had outlived its usefulness on the stage, and so “must needs die.”

         And Nashe had a good motive to criticize the Ur-Hamlet, McCarthy discovered. Some lines recited within the play have been identified by scholars as a send-up of a play Nashe cowrote with Christopher Marlowe, Dido, Queen of Carthage, ridiculing its overwrought plot. So now Nashe was returning the favor, getting back at the author of the Ur-Hamlet by ridiculing his play as outmoded. But who was this “English Seneca” he was calling out? And could he be the author of the original Hamlet?

         McCarthy began searching elsewhere in Nashe’s preface for clues. In the sentence directly preceding the passage about Hamlet and English Seneca, Nashe wrote that he was returning to the topic of “trivial translators” he’d discussed earlier. As he waded his way through the dense set of allusions that begins the text, he came across a reference to other writers who “vaunt…Plutarch’s plumes as their own.”

         Plutarch, McCarthy went on to learn, was another writer in Roman times, who’d written a set of biographies called Lives of the Noble Greeks and Romans, or simply, Plutarch’s Lives. The most famous translator of the work into English was an Elizabethan writer by the name of Sir Thomas North. Another phrase in the same passage refers to catching “Boreas by the beard”—the Greek name for the north wind. Could Thomas North be “English Seneca”? McCarthy doubted it, but surprisingly, as soon as he searched for “Thomas North” and “Seneca,” he found an immediate hit. This reference came from an even older work, a preface to Seneca’s tragedy Thyestes written by Jasper Heywood in 1560. Appearing almost thirty years before Nashe’s lament that Senecan tragedy was over, the form was then just on the verge of taking off in England.

         Heywood makes an appeal to a group of writers at the Inns of Court—the early Tudor law schools—urging them to take up Senecan tragedy as a playwriting form. As the first name on his list of contenders, Heywood writes, “There shalt thou see the selfsame North, whose work his wit displays, and Dial doth of Princes paint, and preach abroad his praise.” That, McCarthy further discovered, was a reference to The Dial of Princes, a kind of self-help manual for rulers that Thomas North had translated and published in 1557.

         After weeks of painstakingly searching, McCarthy now had several arrows pointing in Thomas North’s direction. When he searched for biographies of the English writer, however, he found little information. One biographer called him, encouragingly, “the first great master of English prose.” Apart from that, almost every reference to North noted that Shakespeare used his translation of Plutarch to write his Roman tragedies, including Julius Caesar, Coriolanus, Timon of Athens, and especially Antony and Cleopatra—where whole passages of North’s prose are taken almost verbatim by Shakespeare and turned into poetry.

         In fact, after Holinshed’s Chronicles and Hall’s Chronicle, North’s Plutarch was Shakespeare’s greatest source for his plays, called by another writer “Shakespeare’s storehouse of classical learning.” While North is lauded as a translator, however, McCarthy found no indication that North was a poet or playwright, much less a gifted dramatist capable of writing something as profound as Hamlet (or even the Ur-Hamlet). If McCarthy was going to make such an audacious claim, he’d need to find more evidence.

         
              

         

         MCCARTHY HAD ALWAYS been good at figuring things out. He grew up in the 1960s in Amherst, New York, a few minutes outside of Buffalo, where he lived in an apartment complex in a working-class neighborhood. His father, an Irish American Korean War vet, worked in real estate, renting and flipping houses; his mother, who came from Irish and German descent, taught at the local elementary school. His father could be a strict disciplinarian at times—there was no mouthing off, ever—but both parents doted on him as their only child. “It was a fun neighborhood, with lots of kids playing Kick the Can at night,” McCarthy tells me, sitting at the wooden table in his New Hampshire living room.

         McCarthy was clearly bright as a child. According to his mother, Gloria, he was reading at a third-grade level by kindergarten, and a year later, he skipped a grade. By fourth grade, she remembers one of his teachers saying, “He’s smarter than me, I can’t answer his questions.” Initially he did well at math and developed an early love for reading—consuming James Bond novels, Stephen King, even some classics like Mark Twain’s Huckleberry Finn. But when it came to schoolwork, he was hopeless. “I didn’t want to study anything that they gave me,” he says. By middle school, he found himself virtually unable to concentrate in class. “My eyes would start at the top of a page, and I would get to the bottom and nothing would have gone through,” he says. “I was formally ineducable.”

         He was still good at standardized tests, able to guess answers by the way the questions were asked and choices provided. While that might have cut it when he was younger, it wasn’t good enough for Nichols School, the exclusive private academy where his parents sent him for high school. By tenth grade, he’d failed out and transferred to the town’s public high school. His friend Michael Kizilbash remembers him as an awkward teenager—rail thin “with this thick puffy hair,” he says. “I called him Q-tip for a while.” He gained confidence playing sports, captaining the cross-country team and excelling at Ultimate Frisbee, playing on local club teams with Kizilbash.

         More than anything, however, he excelled at missing classes. “When I was a senior, I was dating a girl who was wild and lovely, and it wasn’t hard to talk me into skipping school,” McCarthy says. “She’d say, Let’s go to Niagara Falls, and I’d say, Okay.” He skipped so many tests in Health, he wasn’t sure he’d graduate. “They handed me the gown, and I sat there sick to my stomach not knowing if they were going to call my name.” When they did, McCarthy says, his friends erupted in applause. “My parents thought I was really popular and all the kids loved me—they didn’t know everyone was just relieved I graduated.”

         College didn’t turn out much better. After high school, he drifted to the University at Buffalo, thinking he’d study computer science. In the mid-’80s, personal computers were changing from a novelty to a must-have, and the field seemed like it could only grow. He found himself unable to concentrate on debugging long lines of code, however. Coming home from school one weekend, he told his mother dejectedly, “I just don’t see myself spending eight hours a day in front of a monitor.” He started taking theater classes instead, scoring the lead in One Flew Over the Cuckoo’s Nest, and even playing Tybalt in scenes from Romeo and Juliet. And he began writing, mostly horror stories in the vein of Stephen King.

         As smart as he was, he couldn’t seem to focus on a career. He saw friends go into premed, and while he respected them, he couldn’t imagine becoming a doctor himself. “It just didn’t seem exciting to me. I’d be pouring my life into this pursuit, and then die a doctor, and that would be on my tombstone—Dennis the doctor.” He pauses. “I just think you’ve got one shot in life, you’ve got to go for something hugely big.” Despite such lofty ambitions, he struggled to find himself, spending much of his time drinking, bartending part-time, playing Ultimate Frisbee, and dating. “I was kind of a serial monogamist,” he says. “I always had a serious girlfriend in my life.” One of those girlfriends—a waitress named Pauline Galovski, whom he dated for the better part of 1986—ended up pregnant. After they broke up, she gave birth to his baby, naming her Nicole, and McCarthy agreed to help support her.

         After four years at college, he was a few credits shy of graduating when he decided to drop out and become a writer full-time, following his friend Kizilbash—and another girl—to Boston, where they moved in together on ritzy Beacon Hill. “Fortunately for me, she was doing well, and she supported my writing habit,” he says sardonically. One novella he started featured a writer who inherited a haunted typewriter that started churning out short stories like a twisted mechanical Scheherazade, each one more horrific than the last. He never felt like his work was good enough to send out anywhere, however, and his manuscripts went unpublished.

         He still read voraciously, plowing through five newspapers a day and going to the library to read books on popular science, physics, and astronomy. “I’d meet him at a bar, and he’d be with a group of girls, and say, ‘Ask me absolutely any question about anything, and I’ll answer it correctly,’” Kizilbash recalls. “And sure as hell, that’s what he would do.” After he and his girlfriend broke up, he fathered another child, Meagan, with a flight attendant he met while attending an Ultimate Frisbee tournament in Florida. “I had a bit of a wild period in my twenties,” McCarthy admits. “I wasn’t really rooted anywhere or doing anything—but eventually I got my act together.”

         
              

         

         JUST AS HIS Ultimate Frisbee team won the national championships—making it one of the best teams in the world—he lost interest in the party scene. “I was like, that’s it, that phase is done,” he says. He moved out of Boston to the North Shore of Massachusetts to get serious about writing, living in a procession of seaside towns with quaint New England names—Beverly Farms, Magnolia, Manchester-by-the-Sea. In addition to short stories, he began earning some money writing arts reviews for local newspapers, eventually graduating to features, such as one about how email had brought the love letter back.

         One day in the mid-1990s, McCarthy received a phone call from his daughter Nicole, whom he’d seen when she was younger, but stopped after relations with her mother and new stepfather had become strained. Now seven years old, she called to ask him to come see her again. He drove the eight hours back to Buffalo the next day. After that, McCarthy began seeing his daughter every few months, easing into something like fatherhood.

         In October 1997, McCarthy found himself at age thirty-four back in Buffalo. He had blown out his knee playing Ultimate Frisbee and was staying with his parents while seeing a doctor they’d recommended. Limping into a local TGI Friday’s on crutches, he began chatting up a twenty-nine-year-old brunette woman from Kalamazoo, Michigan, named Lori Seidl, who was sitting at the bar with her roommate. “I have a blown knee, no real job, no car, I’m living with my parents, and have two illegitimate children,” McCarthy ticks off, amazed that she was willing to speak to him. Meanwhile, Seidl was on an upward career trajectory as a regional account manager for a pharmaceutical company. “So I was clearly punching above my weight here.”

         Lori remembers it differently. “I had my hair in a ponytail, no makeup, flannel shirt—so clearly he liked me for my mind,” she says sarcastically. She was immediately attracted to his intelligence and sense of humor, as the two talked about everything from Mark Twain to obscure horror movies. “He was just laughing all the time,” she says. “I think I fell in love with him for his laugh.” They were dating by February. By June, they’d moved back to Massachusetts together; and by December, they were engaged to be married. They started living together in a house on a lake in a small town west of Boston.

         After Lori McCarthy got a job working for biotech company Biogen in New Hampshire, they moved to their current colonial overlooking the woods and marsh on the seacoast outside Portsmouth. They had two children: Kennedy in 2000, and Griffin in 2004. Rather than McCarthy working at a newspaper and the couple paying for daycare, they decided he’d stay home and take care of the kids and continue writing freelance while Lori drove her territory around New Hampshire and Maine. “I would come home and he would have a Baby Björn with Kennedy sleeping on his chest, or a bouncy chair beside him so he could give her a bottle if she needed it,” Lori remembers. “He always did a really good job at multitasking.”

         
              

         

         EVEN AS HE wrote for local papers, McCarthy continued reading popular science books by the likes of Carl Sagan, Richard Dawkins, and E. O. Wilson. Eventually, he started driving to Boston or Providence to slip into libraries at Harvard, Brandeis, and Brown to read science journals. “I would just walk straight in, and copy whatever articles I needed,” he says. Sometimes he’d bring his children, striving to keep them from running through the stacks while he searched.

         McCarthy became particularly interested in the science of biogeography—a hybrid field that explores how and why particular species of plants and animals exist where they do. “It’s like the secret subject of geniuses,” he says now, listing off the luminaries of the field—Charles Darwin and Alfred Wallace, co-fathers of evolution; taxonomist Carl Linnaeus; Alfred Wegener, who discovered continental drift; and Jared Diamond, author of Guns, Germs, and Steel. “It’s one of the most significant subjects in the history of the world,” he insists, “and very few people know about it.” The more he surveyed findings in the field, the more he thought he might have something to contribute.

         Looking at the Pacific Ocean, for example, he started identifying similar plants and animals—a flat oyster, a freshwater lizard, a flightless bird—found only on opposite sides of the Pacific, but not on any of the islands in between. He took this as evidence that the entire ocean had once been closed 200 million years ago, and these species had evolved from common ancestors as the continents drifted apart and the ocean opened. While he wasn’t the first person to propose the idea, McCarthy thought he was able to show this phenomenon along the entire Pacific Rim, with matching species pairs in Japan–Canada, China–Mexico, Australia–Peru, and New Zealand–Patagonia, something he likened to a “zipper effect.”

         Of course, submitting a paper on the subject to an academic journal was a bold move for someone without a science degree—never mind someone who hadn’t graduated from college. “I knew it was going to be difficult being the dreaded ‘independent researcher,’” he tells me. But McCarthy didn’t let his lack of credentials stop him. One of his favorite movie lines is from the 1997 film The Edge, written by David Mamet, in which Anthony Hopkins and Alec Baldwin are lost in the Alaskan wilderness. Needing to kill a Kodiak bear that is stalking them, Hopkins’s character proposes they build a trap. When the other man protests they lack hunting experience, he yells, “What one man can do, another can do!” McCarthy may not have succeeded in school, but he believed he could do anything if he devoted enough time and energy to it.

         He began by reaching out to some of the scientists he admired. One scientist from New Zealand, Michael Heads, had looked at distribution patterns of plants across the islands of New Zealand that could barely spread on their own, theorizing they had once been on opposite sides of continental plates that had spread apart over time. McCarthy wrote to Heads, praising his research, while sending him information on his own, asking him if it was something he thought he could publish. “I put it like, I am very interested in your work. I agree with it,” he says. “And I think I’ve got something that reinforces it.”

         After a lively back-and-forth over email, Heads introduced McCarthy to editors at a peer-reviewed publication, the Journal of Biogeography, helping him submit his paper there. “The Trans-Pacific Zipper Effect: Disjunct Sister Taxa and Matching Geological Outlines That Link the Pacific Margins” appeared in October 2003. McCarthy followed that up with other papers, expanding on his theories about the Pacific while writing just a few miles from the Atlantic. A friend who worked at the Buffalo Museum of Science helped him get the unpaid position of research associate—a title at least—and the wife of another friend who taught at the University at Buffalo gave him access to electronic databases of scholarly journals. Now, he could find all of the academic research he needed without leaving his dining room table. As he continued his correspondence with Pacific-based biogeographers, one of them, a professor at the University of New South Wales in Australia named Malte Ebach, invited him to present at a biogeography conference in Cardiff, Wales, in August 2005.

         “Like most sciences, biogeography is very much an echo chamber, where people are just carrying on the arguments that have been around for years, and there are no fresh ideas,” Ebach tells me now over video chat from Australia. Paleontologists saw an event one way, whereas biologists saw it another, and geologists saw it still another. “It’s like a family reunion, where students take on the rivalries of their supervisors.” Without the baggage of a particular academic discipline, however, McCarthy was able to listen to different sides and mediate between them. “Everyone loved him, because he could speak their language,” Ebach says.

         After the conference, Ebach offered him a big break. He’d been trying to write a book about biogeography for Oxford University Press, he said, but had been having trouble adapting his scientific style for a more mainstream audience. He knew McCarthy had a background in journalism—would he like to give it a go? McCarthy jumped at the chance, writing up a proposal and a couple of chapters, and receiving a contract for the book. He titled it Here Be Dragons, after the cartography term Hic sunt dracones, which ancient mapmakers supposedly used to designate unknown or dangerous lands. In reality, he argues, the term referred to the location of Komodo dragons, those ten-foot-long lizards that inhabit remote islands of the Pacific. To explain how and why they developed where they did, McCarthy draws on research by Jared Diamond that suggests they likely evolved to their gargantuan size to eat pygmy mammoths—a fact that “invites a rather fantastic image, a lizard attacking and eating an elephant.”

         The book is full of entertaining anecdotes like that one, following in the footsteps of McCarthy’s popular science heroes. In a chapter titled “The Bloody Fall of South America,” McCarthy describes how a freak geological occurrence—the rise of the isthmus of Panama a few million years ago—led North American carnivores to go on a rampage in South America, wiping out the unique hoofed animals and marsupials that once lived there. Along the way, he describes how biogeography led to insights in other fields; for example, how the distribution of finches and iguanas on the Galápagos Islands gave Charles Darwin the epiphany that led to his theory of evolution. In a no less important example, the location of dinosaur fossils on different continents helped German scientist Alfred Wegener come up with the theory of continental drift, which he first published in 1915. Like Darwin, Wegener was attacked by his contemporaries, and he died without seeing his theories accepted. “Unfortunately, this is not that unusual a situation. Many scientists of the past who are acclaimed as revolutionary today were ignored or attacked by conventional scientists of their time and, like Wegener, died unknown,” McCarthy wrote.

         In fact, many of the examples in the book represent a common theme, which McCarthy can’t help but point out: a struggle by determined outsiders to transform calcified scientific fields through facts and evidence, even when they are repeatedly ridiculed or ignored. “Established academics have much invested in the theories they have taught to others and written about in books and journals, and this can, at times, lead to unreflective antagonism toward daring and mutinous ideas,” he wrote. “The result was intellectual stagnation” for half a century, he continued, “lost time on our scientific journey that can never be recaptured. But it was not the methods of science that had misled us, simply the frailties of humans. In the end, the scientific process triumphed.”

         
              

         

         WHEN OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS published McCarthy’s book Here Be Dragons in December 2009, the book met with an enthusiastic reception. Huffington Post, for example, called it “a wonderful little book” and “a great pleasure” to read. Even more satisfying for an outsider crashing the gates of academia, Science, the gold standard of scientific journals, also gave it a positive review. McCarthy’s book, it said, “delivers on its promise that we will never look at the world in the same way again.”

         By the time it appeared, however, McCarthy had long moved on. By now, McCarthy’s two-week project to trace the origins of Hamlet had become an all-consuming passion. Once McCarthy had identified “English Seneca” as Thomas North in 2005, he began looking for any other references that might suggest North had written the Ur-Hamlet, or been at all connected to Shakespeare. The same way that dinosaur fossils or evolutionary ancestors left behind traces pointing to long-lost connections between continents, McCarthy figured that vestiges of North’s prose must have found their way into Shakespeare’s great tragedy. He had read almost all the way through the online text of North’s first translation, The Dial of Princes, when he found himself drawn up short. In chapter forty-eight of the third book, North quotes a meditation on death by the Roman philosopher Secundus, who calls it a “kind of sleeping” and “a pilgrimage uncertain.” In the very next paragraph, North quotes Seneca, who says, “For all those which are dead, none returned.” McCarthy couldn’t help but see an echo there of Hamlet’s most famous soliloquy—and some of the most famous lines in the English language.

         “To be, or not to be, that is the question,” Hamlet says to himself, struggling with the pain of seeing his mother and usurping uncle together. He continues his meditation, asking “whether ’tis nobler in the mind to suffer the slings and arrows of outrageous fortune, or to take up arms against a sea of troubles, and by opposing end them.” Later, he, too, compares death to sleeping, saying, “To die, to sleep; to sleep, perchance to dream. Ay, there’s the rub, for in that sleep of death what dreams may come…” Then, in words that further resemble North’s prose, he asks whether any of us would bear life’s misfortunes if not for “the dread of something after death—the undiscovered country, from whose bourn no traveler returns.”

         The description of death as “a pilgrimage uncertain” and “an undiscovered country” seemed uncannily similar to McCarthy—and they weren’t the only resemblances he found between Hamlet’s speech and North’s book. A few chapters after this, North quotes Panutius, secretary to Emperor Marcus Aurelius, musing, “Is it better that thou die and go with so many good; than that thou scape and live amongst so many evil?”—a phrase that, if you squint, could translate to: “To be, or not to be?” In the same passage, he continues, “What other thing is the grave, but a strong fort, wherein we shut ourselves from the assaults of life, and broils of fortune?”—a passage much like “slings and arrows of outrageous fortune.” Elsewhere in the book, North refers to a “sea of troubles.” And near the beginning of the work, McCarthy even found a passage combining forms of “perchance,” “sleep,” and “dream” into a single phrase, when North writes, “If perchance thou doest ask it, because sleeping has dreamed it.”

         Taken together, the chances that so many similar sentiments and specific phrases would be shared between Hamlet’s soliloquy and North’s earlier translation seemed vanishingly small to McCarthy. Even so, McCarthy knew from his work in biogeography that one couldn’t take anything for granted. Although sometimes similar plants and animals appeared in different parts of the world because they shared a common evolutionary ancestor, sometimes they had evolved to become more similar because they shared a similar environment. Perhaps Shakespeare and North were both borrowing phrases from another writer; or maybe they were echoing common beliefs about death in the sixteenth century.

         McCarthy found there was a way to check that—almost—using an online database called Early English Books Online (EEBO). The compendium then contained the full text of some 26,500 printed texts written between 1475 and 1640, identified by scholars as the most important works of early English prose. By searching in the database, someone could find out how many times a particular phrase had been used, and compare instances of words used in proximity to each other across volumes. Of course, the database only includes printed books, not manuscripts, and certainly not any books or manuscripts that had been lost over the centuries, but McCarthy figured it was the closest he’d be able to get to searching through all of Tudor-era prose.

         When he started plugging in phrases, he found that, in fact, many of them were quite common. “A sea of troubles,” for instance, appeared fifteen times in the EEBO dataset in works written before Hamlet. Other word groupings, however, were more unique. When McCarthy searched for the words “sleep,” “perchance,” and “dream” all within ten words of one another, Hamlet and The Dial of Princes were the only works that appeared. By themselves, none of these similarities proved that Thomas North wrote the Ur-Hamlet—after all, Shakespeare or another writer could have borrowed the phrases from The Dial of Princes directly. But together with the references he’d already found that seemingly pointed to North as the author, they added additional evidence to the case.

         
              

         

         MCCARTHY ALSO FOUND other encouraging references showing North was much closer to English playwriting circles of the Elizabethan age. A play by Shakespeare’s rival, Ben Jonson, lampoons a character named “John Daw”—a supposedly educated knight who turns out to be a buffoon. Some of the language in the play seemed to mimic North’s own translation of The Dial of Princes, and in one passage, Jonson references not only Plutarch and Seneca, but also The Moral Philosophy of Doni, an obscure Italian book of fables that North also translated. Not for nothing, the name of that character could be seen as an allusion to the jackdaw or crow—a bird that feathers its nest with the feathers of others—an Elizabethan shorthand for a plagiarist. McCarthy wrote up the findings in a short paper, spelling out the traces of language he found in the passages that made him believe that John Daw was actually a reference to Thomas North.

         Now that he was writing a book for Oxford University Press, he submitted the paper to Notes & Queries, a journal Oxford also publishes that contains short pieces on literary topics. McCarthy’s paper on John Daw was accepted, appearing in the September 2007 issue. He followed it up with a paper naming The Dial of Princes as a source for Hamlet’s soliloquy in Notes & Queries in March 2009. (McCarthy left out, for now, his larger suspicion of North as author of the Ur-Hamlet.) McCarthy was elated that he’d broken through with published scholarship in a new academic discipline, trumpeting on his website that he “may be the only researcher to have published papers in the leading journals of such disparate disciplines as geophysics, biogeography, and English literature.”

         As he continued pursuing the connections between Shakespeare and Thomas North, McCarthy often woke up at five in the morning, chasing a new find until dinner. “He almost had another place at the table,” Lori McCarthy tells me. “You were setting a place for Shakespeare?” I ask. “No,” she replies, “Thomas North.” In fact, she says, she didn’t realize how much the children were absorbing from his studies until one night when they were out for tacos, and some friends asked what he was writing. “My kids start going on and on about Shakespeare and all the plays,” Lori says. “I was like ‘Oh my God, your teachers are going to love you.’ They knew more about Shakespeare than ninety percent of adults.” Despite his growing obsession, McCarthy still found time to play with the kids in the yard after they got home from school, throwing the Frisbee with them and inventing a game called “poison ball” that became a hit with the neighborhood children. “I’ve known people whose spouses were so absorbed in their work that they’re almost absentee,” Lori says, “but he never makes us feel like we’re not important.”

         Soon, McCarthy had more help for his project as well. In the decade since he reconnected with his daughter Nicole, the pair had become increasingly close. “They couldn’t keep us apart, we were too similar,” McCarthy says one night over dinner with Galovski and me in London. “We just had too much fun together.” Starting when she was seventeen, Galovski says, they began carrying on long philosophical conversations over the phone and on weekend and summer visits. “We would talk for hours about the meaning of life and what we both wanted to do and what was most interesting in the world,” she says. “I still consider my dad my best friend.” Growing up in a religious household, Galovski decided to journey to Uganda at age nineteen to do aid work with a nonprofit organization. The trip didn’t turn out as she had hoped, however, especially when her residence was broken into and some of her possessions stolen.

         While in Africa, she went sightseeing with some friends to an area of the Congo that was then a flashpoint in the country’s long civil war, writing a chatty blog post about the experience. When McCarthy read it, he was apoplectic. “I was angrier at her than I have ever been at anyone in my life,” he says as Galovski picks up the story: “I said something like, ‘Well, Mom supports me,’ and he said, ‘That’s because your mom thinks when you die you’ll be playing bocce with Saint Francis of Assisi on Cloud 9—while I know your blood will be soaking into the red African earth and you’ll be buried in a box of your wasted potential.’” Galovski turns, smiling, to her dad, as McCarthy chuckles. “I swear that was off the cuff,” he says. “I even thought to myself at the time, ‘That’s a good line.’”

         A short while later, he convinced Galovski to move to New Hampshire, where she stayed in the basement and helped him with his Shakespeare research, tracking down papers and looking up references, while she planned her next steps. Eventually, she got a job as programming director for the New Hampshire Film Festival, which launched her documentary filmmaking career today. “The maddest my dad gets at me is if he thinks I’m not seeing reality clearly,” Galovski says. “He’s so focused on what’s true—no matter what anyone else says. That’s really inspired me now, obviously as a truth seeker through documentary film.”

         With Galovski’s help, McCarthy delved deeper into the truth behind satires by Elizabethan playwrights. As he read through them, he began noticing other references to North, seeming to relate to other Shakespeare plays beyond just Hamlet, implying that perhaps North had a hand in writing more plays in the Shakespeare canon. “Everything just kept pointing to Thomas North, Thomas North,” McCarthy says. In the same preface in which Nashe mocks “English Seneca,” for example, he also refers to the “King of the Fairies,” calling to mind Oberon in A Midsummer Night’s Dream. In another work, Nashe seems to refer to the witches from Macbeth before complaining of a “dull, Northern clime.” One work in particular seemed to go even further, describing a meeting between North and Shakespeare directly.

         
              

         

         THE 1592 PAMPHLET Greene’s Groatsworth of Wit purports to be the deathbed confession of writer Robert Greene—but it was almost certainly written by someone else. It’s most famous now for containing a rare contemporary reference to William Shakespeare, also invoking language of a crow feathering his nest with the plumage of other birds, to imply that he is a plagiarist. “There is an upstart crow,” it says, “beautified with our feathers, that with his tiger’s heart wrapped in a player’s hide, supposes he is as well able to bombast out a blank verse as the best of you: and being an absolute Johannes Factotum, is in his own concept the only Shake-scene in a country.” Not only is “Shake-scene” a clear reference to Shakespeare, but the association is cemented by the phrase “tiger’s heart wrapped in a player’s hide,” a parody of the phrase “Oh, tiger’s heart wrapped in a woman’s hide,” appearing in Henry VI, Part 3. “Johannes Factotum” is another word for jack-of-all-trades, which as an actor, playwright, and theater owner, Shakespeare certainly was; while “shake” was Elizabethan slang for “steal.” Thus, as generations of scholars have concluded, at least one of Shakespeare’s contemporaries accused him of stealing his scenes from other writers and passing them off as his own.

         This one sentence has spurred centuries of speculation that Shakespeare didn’t in fact pen the plays attributed to him, creating a cottage industry of conspiracy theories that the author of the canon is actually Francis Bacon; Edward de Vere, the Earl of Oxford; or another writer instead. Few scholars, however, have looked beyond that one reference to examine the rest of the pamphlet for clues. In fact, Groatsworth tells the story of a gentleman named Roberto, a scholar disowned by his family, who finds himself penniless. He meets an actor who promises to pay him for his plays. “Now famoused for an arch-playmaking-poet,” the author writes, “his purse like the sea sometimes swelled; anon like the same sea fell to a low ebb. Yet seldom he wanted, his labors were so well-esteemed.”

         Those lines in Groatsworth, in fact, seem to imply an ongoing relationship in which the actor paid the “gentleman-scholar” for plays which he adapted for the stage over an extended period of time. Nothing, of course, in North’s meager biography implied anything of the sort. Groatsworth, however, describes a fraught relationship between the gentleman-scholar and his father and brother, with whom he fell repeatedly into conflict. As McCarthy began researching the lives of Thomas North’s own father and brother, he found uncanny similarities between them and the story described in Groatsworth. While Thomas’s biography may have been sparse, the lives of his wealthier and more prominent family members were fleshed out in more detail. McCarthy now began to plumb them for clues that might explain how—and why—Thomas North might have begun writing plays.

      

   


   
      
         
            Chapter Three

            Remembering This Realm

            (1509–1555)

         

         
            With profound sorrow, my heart is sore grieved,

            Remembering this realm, my native country,

            With manifold vices to be destroyed

            & falling in decay.

            —“The Ruin of a Realm,” Edward North

         

         
             

         

         Gold cloth and tapestries spilled from the windows of Cheapside on June 23, 1509, as crowds gathered along the streets below. The drinking had started early, with wine flowing freely from the conduits in place of the usual water, creating a festival-like atmosphere in the posh London neighborhood. Edward North, then an auburn-haired youth of about thirteen, was likely among the assembled throng straining to catch a glimpse of the future king as he rode triumphantly to his coronation in Westminster.

         Following the priests in their long robes and then the line of noble lords on horseback, the prince finally emerged, dazzling in a doublet of gold and gemstones, the sun shining on hair the color of Edward’s own. Behind him in a litter was his soon-to-be queen, the Spanish princess Katherine of Aragon. She had once been married to Prince Arthur, who had died of illness just five months after their wedding. So now she would marry his younger brother Henry, who would take the throne as Henry VIII.

         Hopes were riding high for this robust youth, who at age eighteen was already six feet two inches tall and broad-chested. His father, Henry VII, had been young once, too, when he had ridden onto the battlefield of Bosworth to depose the usurper Richard III, ending the Wars of the Roses and bringing peace to the kingdom. But the old king had grown dour and miserly with age. This new king seemed endlessly energetic, always engaging in athletic pursuits of archery, wrestling, and jousting. He was also studious, devoting himself to the philosophy of humanism, which taught that leaders of noble blood must put their learning into practice for the betterment of the realm.

         Henry was taking over a capital city poised for prosperity. London stretched turtle-like along the Thames River for almost a mile, from the soaring spire of St. Paul’s Cathedral to the ancient fortress of the Tower of London. The city was industrious and dirty, its wharves teeming with honey, wine, and pitch carried upriver on barges with the tide. Many of the best goods found their way to Cheapside, which overflowed with cloth and textiles and the world-renowned wares of gold- and silversmiths. With a population of over fifty thousand people, the city was already bursting out of its old Roman walls, and its streets were narrow and cramped, overhung with jetties from the upper stories. Rains could turn the ill-paved streets into a malodorous mud, mixed with bits of fish and animal droppings.

         
            [image: ]

         

         Yet there was an undeniable energy in the air, as new residents flocked from the countryside, among them Edward’s father, Roger North, who came from a family of landed gentry near Nottingham. Drifting down to London before Edward’s birth around 1496, he became a prosperous clothing merchant before dying at age sixty-one in 1509, the same year that the new king came to the throne. Before then, he provided Edward with a humanist education, enrolling him in St. Paul’s School, newly founded by scholar John Colet to teach the classics to the future elite of English society, including lessons in Greek for the first time in England. Edward likely imbibed a skepticism for the church as well, as Colet and other reformers advocated a simpler form of religion, removed from the superstitious worship of relics and the gluttony of the priests.

         He may have heard even stronger criticism of the church while continuing his studies at Peterhouse, the oldest college at Cambridge University. In the 1520s, Cambridge was abuzz with talk of religious reformation, as the followers of German theologian Martin Luther met at the White Horse public house just outside Peterhouse’s front gate. Among them was William Tyndale, who would defy the church by publishing the first English Bible, and Thomas Cranmer, who would soon play an even more significant role in England’s religious reformation.

         
              

         

         THE KING’S MARRIAGE to Katherine was by all accounts a happy one at first, with the vivacious queen more than equaling Henry’s physical and intellectual appetites. After the previous century’s wars had depleted the country’s store of nobles, Henry created new ones with young courtiers drawn from the gentry and merchant classes that some bluebloods contemptuously termed “new men.” Henry increasingly spent his time jousting, feasting, and playing at war with these new lords, leaving the business of running the country to others. Chief among them was Cardinal Thomas Wolsey, an adviser to Henry’s father whom the king made lord chancellor, the highest office in the land, in 1515; three years later, the pope made him papal legate, his personal representative in England. From these lofty perches, Wolsey negotiated with the great powers of Europe and raised coin for Henry’s ambitious endeavors.

         After assuming the throne, Henry lost little time declaring war on England’s ancient enemy, France. After a series of muddy skirmishes, he had little to show for it, succeeding in capturing a couple of French citadels while squandering most of the £1.25 million ($1.8 billion today) fortune his father had left him. New monarchs took the throne: Francis I of France; and Charles V of Spain, who also became Holy Roman Emperor, giving him control of a third of the Continent. Over the coming decades, the shifting wars and alliances of these three kings would dominate European politics, with Henry the most junior partner.

         Wolsey steered the three rulers into an agreement of “universal peace” in 1520. Two years later, Edward North returned to London to study at Lincoln’s Inn, one of the four prestigious Inns of Court that sprouted in the fields west of the city to prepare young men for the law and civil service. There he watched Wolsey parade his growing influence and wealth—the richest man in England after the king. For his daily journeys to Westminster, he rode on a mule covered in scarlet, with two silver crosses before him, accompanied by four footmen with poleaxes. He spent thousands of pounds on rich clothing, built himself the enormous palace of Hampton Court, and dined at the king’s table on special meats reserved for him alone. When the highest-ranking noble, the Duke of Buckingham, grumbled privately, Wolsey personally oversaw his trial for treason and execution.

         Resentments against Wolsey, however, continued to build. The peace the cardinal negotiated couldn’t hold, and soon France and the Holy Roman Empire were at war, with England entering on the emperor’s side. To fund the campaign, Wolsey pushed a new tax through Parliament, requiring every person in the realm to pay according to their means. As he studied law at Lincoln’s Inn, Edward North channeled the anti-Wolsey sentiment sweeping the country into writing.

         
              

         

         “WITH PROFOUND SORROW, my heart is sore grieved,” the poem begins, “remembering this realm, my native country, with manifold vices to be destroyed & falling in decay.” Titled “The Ruin of a Realm,” the poem survives in two manuscript copies, both in the British Library in London. One of them is inserted into a sixteenth-century “commonplace book” of miscellaneous writings under the name “Northe.” Just before the last three of the poem’s thirty-seven stanzas is written: “The author,” and following the first letter of each of the following lines spells out an acrostic, reading: “EDWARDE NORTH.”

         The poem laments the decay into which England has fallen due to the pernicious influence of both nobles and the clergy, especially one clergyman in particular. “For in gowns of silk and riding on their mules is their chief delight, and to bear a rule in great men’s houses of high authority,” North writes in a direct shot at Wolsey, “by reason of whose vices this realm is brought into great ruin.” Perhaps North felt public sentiment was on his side, or perhaps he was just young and foolish, caught up in the fervor of the day. Whatever his intent, his literary rebellion was short-lived. In a cardboard box in Britain’s National Archives is a sheaf of water-stained papers detailing in Latin the charges against Edward North of London and five other men for treason against the king, on January 27, 1524.

         I found these documents myself, following a long trail of footnotes, as I, too, began researching the North family. For all of McCarthy’s wizardry with computers, he is the first to admit he rarely sets foot into libraries or archives himself anymore. In our travels together in England, we stopped by Cambridge University Library to see a copy of The Dial of Princes, personally owned and annotated by Thomas North, and McCarthy seemed at sea signing up for a reader’s card to visit the rare-books reading room. “The truth is, there is so much to find, I can spend my time more efficiently on the computer,” he told me—just one more indication of how his approach radically differs from conventional scholars. And yet, as I paged through these and other documents in London archives, struggling to read Tudor secretary hand, they only seemed to bolster the story that McCarthy had been constructing about North’s family history.

         The ringleader of the plot against the king was a man named Francis Philipp, a schoolteacher at the court, who stood accused of calling for Henry VIII’s “death and destruction.” According to Hall’s Chronicle, Philipp and his gang planned to ambush one of Wolsey’s war tax collectors in Coventry before seizing nearby Kenilworth Castle as a base from which to make “battle against the king.” Before they could, however, they were found out by a local cloth seller and taken to be imprisoned in the Tower of London. North doesn’t seem to have taken part in the plot; however, according to the court documents, the rebels took him into their confidence, and he promised to keep their plans a secret. (Presumably it was his anti-Wolsey poem that caught their attention.) On February 4 and 5, 1524, the prisoners appeared at Westminster Hall for an inquest, where they were accused of lying and treason. North admitted his guilt, but the nine commissioners adjourned for Easter without a ruling.

         Edward must have spent an anxious time in his cell, shivering in the raw cold of an English winter, while awaiting his fate. Weeks stretched into months without a verdict, until finally, on April 16, 1524, the commissioners returned to pronounce Philipp and his fellow conspirators guilty. Three of them were hauled out to Tyburn, the execution ground three miles west of the city, to be hanged, drawn, and quartered. North, meanwhile, was remanded back into custody, most likely to the Tower, where he sat again for months—alive, thank the Lord—but imprisoned. It’s at this point, perhaps, he decided that criticizing Wolsey’s decadence wasn’t a cause worth dying for.

         In another poem in the commonplace book, titled “The Complaint of North to the Cardinal Wolsey,” he offers a full-throated apology to the cardinal. “Now being in prison, I am not able,” it begins, “plainly to show his virtues innumerable.” After all, he continues, “making was my joy, and is now my grievance”—most likely a reference to “making” his poetry, which North clearly blames for the trouble he is in. The rest of the poem relentlessly sings Wolsey’s praises, including “his wit and goodly eloquence, very desirous of pure humanity, inflamed with virtue and goodly countenance,” and other variations on the theme. “All of England for him is bound to pray!” he insists finally, before spelling out in an acrostic in the last lines of the poem: “GOD PRESERVE THOMAS LORD LEGATE AND CARDINALL.” North ends the poem throwing himself on Wolsey’s mercy as “a man troubled, trusting for grace, living in hope, all things to amend.”

         His sycophancy seems to have hit the mark. In another cardboard box in the National Archives is a long document in Latin calligraphy detailing the terms of a full pardon for North, releasing him for “any and all forms of insurrection, rebellion” and “misprision of treason.” The pardon is dated January 24, 1525, almost a year to the day since charges were first brought against him. The long, uncertain days in prison must have taught North a lesson about what happens when you stick your neck out too boldly for a cause. When survival was at stake, he was quick to turn his writing around to flatter Wolsey—the object of his derision just a year before. There were plenty of martyrs who went to the scaffold rather than recant their religious or political beliefs. North, it seems, chose to play the long game, flattering his way out of prison while perhaps privately hoping for Wolsey’s comeuppance. For that, at least, he would not have to wait long.

         
              

         

         THEY CALLED IT the king’s Great Matter. Queen Katherine became pregnant seven times, but only succeeded in giving birth to one child, the princess Mary, in 1516. Anxious for a male heir to the throne, Henry may have sincerely believed God was punishing him. But he also had a wandering eye, and by the time it fell on one of Katherine’s ladies, Anne Boleyn, in the mid-1520s, he was ready to cast off his queen for a new one. With divorce virtually nonexistent in Tudor times, Henry set his mind to an annulment on the grounds that Katherine had previously consummated her marriage to Arthur (though he was sickly, and only fifteen when he died). He entrusted the job of securing the approval of the pope to Wolsey, who dispatched a messenger to Rome in 1527.

         In the meantime, Edward’s legal career recovered quickly from his brush with treason. Perhaps through the influence of his brother-in-law, an alderman, North became a counsel for the city of London. From that vantage, he watched Wolsey fail at his appointed task. By now, the Emperor Charles V had gained the upper hand in the continental wars, capturing the French king and driving deep into Italy to sack Rome and take Pope Clement VII prisoner. Since Charles V was Queen Katherine’s nephew, there was little chance the pope would authorize the annulment now. Clement agreed only to an ecclesiastical court, which met in England in the upstairs hall at Blackfriars monastery.

         Katherine fell at the king’s feet. “I beseech you for all the loves that hath been between us, and for the love of God, let me have justice and right,” she cried, claiming she’d never consummated her previous marriage. Wolsey did his best to argue the opposite, but the emperor’s delegate demanded the case be recalled to Rome, and the pope acquiesced. Henry blamed Wolsey for the catastrophe, and Wolsey’s enemies pounced, pressing charges against him of praemunire, the crime of putting the pope’s interests over the king’s.

         Henry stripped Wolsey of his many posts and banished him to the north of England. The following year, the king accused him of treason for secretly conspiring with France and Spain, and soldiers brought Wolsey under guard on a slow march south to be placed in the Tower, where North had been locked up five years before. On the way, Wolsey’s health gave out; he contracted dysentery and died.

         
              

         

         EDWARD NORTH MUST have watched the fall of his old enemy with satisfaction—even as his own career was on an upswing. Around age thirty-one, he followed in his father’s footsteps to become a freeman of the Mercers’ Company, the first among the twelve livery companies that elected London’s aldermen and mayor. The following year, he ended his long bachelorhood by finally settling down with Alice Squire, the rich widow of two marriages, who brought along her young daughter, the future Alice Arden. Their own daughter, Christian, was born in 1529, followed by a son, Roger, in February 1531. He was baptized in a parish in the bustling mercantile district between Cheapside and the wharves, attesting to the wealth North had achieved.

         That same month, Edward North received his first official government appointment, as clerk of Parliament in Westminster. His biography in The History of Parliament suggests it was his poem “The Ruin of a Realm” that caught the attention of the clerk who helped North get the post. His anti-Wolsey screed, which had once almost caused his death, was now perfectly suited to the time. As Wolsey fell, the dam holding back the resentments against the church had burst; itinerant preachers began railing against the superstitious worship of relics, while in some villages, parishioners under the influence of radical Protestants destroyed statues of saints.

         Following Wolsey’s demise, Henry’s new lord chancellor, the humanist scholar Thomas More, tried to hold the line against such iconoclasm. He publicly burned books of Martin Luther and William Tyndale, and was soon burning religious heretics as well. They stood atop wooden platforms in the Smithfield livestock market, just outside London’s northwestern gate, as an executioner set the wood alight at their feet with a flaming torch. If the day was damp, it could take agonizing minutes for the wet wood to catch, slowly roasting victims alive, until the liquefying fat cracking from beneath their skin stoked the flames into a white-hot blaze.

         By now, however, Henry’s patience with the pope had run out, and he turned to a team of scholars, led by theologian Thomas Cranmer, to search for a loophole that would allow him to marry Anne Boleyn. They found it in a first-century text that declared the king of England to be God’s representative within his own realm. As Henry declared himself “supreme head of the English church and clergy,” More resigned his post out of conscience. The power vacuum was filled by another “new man,” Thomas Cromwell, a former secretary of Wolsey who managed to skirt the long knives after his master’s downfall to become a privy councilor and top adviser to the king. As Cromwell made the case for the king’s new authority to Parliament, Henry married Boleyn secretly in 1533. Cranmer, now archbishop of Canterbury, formally approved the marriage, declaring Henry’s marriage to Katherine void. Henry had won his fight against the pope—but the attack on the church was just beginning.

         
              

         

         AS EDWARD NORTH took on greater responsibilities for drafting legislation in Parliament, “his Sun began to ascend very fast to its zenith,” as his great-grandson Dudley North later wrote in his biography. He now used some of the wealth from his new wife to make the most significant purchase of his life: Kirtling Hall, an estate twenty miles west of Cambridge that instantly gave him entrée into the upper levels of gentility.

         North tore down a five-hundred-year-old medieval castle to construct a magnificent new manor with a profusion of chimneys springing from nearly sixty hearths, making it the largest house in the county. Visitors arrived through a great stone gatehouse with octagonal towers, crossing a flagstone courtyard to enter the great hall, which boasted an immense oak table with room for fifty people. Other rooms included a minstrel’s gallery, a library, a private family chapel with a resplendent stained-glass window, and the so-called oyster room, “perhaps named for inlaid oyster-shell decoration.” Nearly five hundred acres of grounds included wide lawns for bowling and tennis, a park stocked with deer, and fields worked by more than fifty tenant farmers.

         In short, it was a home fit for the important courtier North was becoming. In his long stretches in London, he increasingly worked with Cromwell on a series of legislative acts to consolidate the king’s power over the church. Katherine’s daughter, Mary, was stripped of her right of succession, which was granted instead to the children of Anne Boleyn, including her newly born daughter, Elizabeth. Another law required an oath from every citizen declaring Henry supreme head of the Church of England and acknowledging his new marriage. By 1535, North joined an informal network of agents throughout the country confidentially reporting any acts of support for the papacy to Cromwell. On May 28 of that year, Edward and his wife gave birth to a second son, naming him Thomas.

         The new baby entered the world in a dangerous time, when a man’s beliefs on the matters of religion could spell his death. While I am in London in January 2019, I stop by the Charterhouse, another home Edward North acquired during those tempestuous years. Now a museum, the mansion sits in the heart of the city, but was just outside the wall during North’s time. A guided tour leads into a great hall with dark oak wood paneling and tiered windows eight feet high overlooking a grassy courtyard. “This would have been Lord North’s main reception room,” says the tour guide, a white-haired British man named Neil. While some of the paneling was destroyed in 1941 during the Blitz, most of it is original, he says. “It would have looked pretty much as it does now.” Upstairs is a great room hung with tapestries that, when North lived here, depicted the story of David and Goliath. He filled other chambers with Turkish carpets and chairs covered in gold cloth and black velvet from Venice and Bruges.

         The building wasn’t always a mansion, however. Out in the courtyard, Neil points out heavy gray stones that were once a part of a Carthusian monastery on the site. For centuries, the monks inside had devoted themselves to lives of silent asceticism in their cloister just north of the Smithfield cattle market. When Cromwell’s agents knocked on the door, their prior, John Houghton, refused to sign the oath recognizing Henry’s supremacy. He and several other monks were dragged three miles through the streets of London, to Tyburn, to be hanged, drawn, and quartered. Houghton’s still-beating heart was cut out and rubbed in his face; afterward he was decapitated and the hand with which he had refused to sign nailed to the Charterhouse door.

         Watching Houghton dragged through the streets was Thomas More, who was himself imprisoned in the Tower for refusing to sign the oath. Another protégé of Cromwell, Richard Rich, questioned him and said More denied Henry’s supremacy—though More claimed Rich fabricated the declaration. Nevertheless, More was convicted based on Rich’s testimony and taken to Tower Hill, where he was beheaded, his head hung on London Bridge as a warning to those who might defy the king. With reformers like Cromwell and Cranmer in charge, it was now Catholics who were burned at the stake, with the ashes of more than three hundred of them carried on the wind over Smithfield.

         Cromwell didn’t stop at executions, however, but rather saw an opportunity in England’s wealthy monasteries by which, as historian Peter Ackroyd put it, “his master could grow rich as well as powerful.” He began surveying church property, which then accounted for between a sixth and a third of all the property in the kingdom, cataloging silver candlesticks and golden chalices. At the same time, he sent “visitations” to suss out evidence of wickedness of abbots and monks, who were accused of drinking, whoring, sodomy, and embezzlement. As clerk, Edward North helped draft the legislation by which hundreds of religious houses were closed, their property sold. Richard Rich was made head of the new Court of Augmentations to handle the rent and sale of the properties.

         By this point, the king was discontented with his new bride. In the spring of 1536, Anne Boleyn was arrested on suspicion of having affairs with other men at court. Gallons of ink have been spilled speculating on whether or not Boleyn was actually unfaithful, and why the king really turned on his second queen. Some blame her failure to produce a male heir; others, the influence of Cromwell; still others point to Henry’s infatuation with a new mistress, Jane Seymour. Recent theories place the blame on a jousting accident that caused brain damage and constant leg pain that turned the once golden king into a sadistic monster. Whatever the truth, the charges against Anne were at the very least greatly exaggerated, including that she had engaged in incest with her brother and father. Nonetheless, she was found guilty, hauled out onto Tower Green, and beheaded by sword. Just eleven days later, Henry married Seymour, his third wife.

         Cromwell, meanwhile, stepped up the pace of the Dissolution, moving onto the larger monasteries, including the great Charterhouse of London, which was torn down and converted into storage space for the king’s tents, as well as a casino, with pits for wrestling matches and altars used as gaming tables. The newly acquired lands were dispensed as gifts to the king’s favorites or sold off at fire-sale prices. Cromwell appropriated a half-dozen of the best properties, and others went to nobles and new men who consolidated their status with great new houses.

         As North rose steadily in Cromwell’s favor, he became treasurer of the Court of Augmentations in 1540 under Rich. Now he began acquiring new properties throughout the English Midlands—and continued thriving even as his mentor fell. Henry’s third wife, Jane, finally gave him the male heir he longed for, with the birth of his son, Edward. She died a few days later, however, most likely due to an infection from the delivery. Seeing an opportunity to push forward church reforms, Cromwell helped engineer a new marriage, sight unseen, between Henry and the German Protestant Anne of Cleves.

         Apparently, however, Henry found his new bride unattractive, divorcing her six months later. Cromwell got the blame, and now he was accused of treason, found guilty without a trial, and beheaded on Tower Hill. The same day, Henry married his fifth wife, the young Catherine Howard. She didn’t last long, either. Accused of adultery—probably accurately this time—she was beheaded after only a year and a half of marriage.

         
              

         

         THROUGHOUT ALL THIS turmoil, Edward North continued to rise, acquiring more and more properties, along with a knighthood from a grateful king in 1542. Henry used his new wealth to finance grand palaces of his own, along with more wars against Scotland and France, the king’s enduring obsession. He married his sixth and final wife, Katherine Parr, in 1543, and the next year captured the French city of Boulogne-sur-Mer. North took on an even larger role in the plunder the following year, when he was promoted to chancellor of augmentations.




OEBPS/Images/london_2_600_dpi_online.jpg





OEBPS/Images/aaa_online.jpg
NORTH sy
Ohakespeare

A ROGUE SCHOLAR'S QUEST FOR

THE TRUTH BEHIND THE BARD'Ss WORK

MICHAEL BLANDING

|}:| hachette

BOOKS





OEBPS/Images/england_2_600_dpi_online.jpg
ni

.' Engla

b

o
g
p=1
-s.;
o
g
-1
=

HIl sTraTFORD- A
Hlf vron-avon

FAVERSHAM -

¢ DOVEI

CANTERBURY
K.E N'T






OEBPS/Images/9780316493246_cover_epub.jpg
e s B B LA m—

MICHAEL BLANDING
NORTH by

Dhakiespeare

A RoGUE ScHOLAR'S QUEST FOR

THE TRUTH BEHIND THE BArRD'S WoRrk






OEBPS/Images/discover_hachette_publisher_logo.png
=] QoaKschette





